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Board Chair’s Accountability Statement 
The British Columbia Lottery Corporation 2024/25 Annual Service 
Plan Report compares the organization’s actual results to the 
expected results identified in the 2024/25 – 2026/27 Service Plan 
published in 2024. The Board is accountable for those results as 
reported. 

Signed on behalf of the Board by: 

 

 

Greg Moore 
Board Chair 
August 1, 2025 
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Letter from the CEO 
On behalf of BCLC, I am pleased to present our Annual Service Plan Report for the 2024/25 
fiscal year. 

Fiscal 2024/25 marked the start of BCLC's bold five-year Corporate Strategy, addressing 
challenges and opportunities in both the organization and industry, setting BCLC on the path 
to long-term success. Our focus for this first year was on laying a strong foundation and 
making strategic investments to drive growth and value for British Columbians into the future.   

In fiscal 2024/25, BCLC generated $1.408 billion in net income for the Province of B.C. Net 
income was $28 million lower than the service plan target, primarily due to a revenue shortfall 
of three percent. While inflation and interest rates declined throughout the year, the cost of 
living in B.C. remained high, limiting players’ discretionary spending and affecting BCLC’s 
topline growth. The executive team worked diligently to implement cost containment 
measures and remain fiscally responsible, while balancing the need to invest to help retain 
and grow revenues in the years to come.  

The successful replacement and upgrade of all lottery systems across the province was a key 
highlight in 2024/25. With approximately 3,400 retailers across the province, this was a 
tremendous undertaking, and we appreciate the support of our retailers who helped make it a 
successful transition. The systems bring a more modern experience to the retail environment 
and set the foundation for BCLC to offer new games and experiences in the future. On the 
casino side, a significant investment and undertaking was the implementation of the Everi 
Compliance transaction monitoring system across all facilities. The new system further 
strengthens our anti-money laundering controls through enhanced reporting capabilities and 
analytics.  

Another highlight was the launch of PROLINE, BCLC’s new and improved retail sportsbook and 
the opening of our first PROLINE sportsbook lounges at Parq Casino and Chances Kelowna. 
They are the only place in B.C. where sports bettors can take in the game and place their bets, 
then enjoy the casino floor only a few steps away. This is a competitive advantage that sets 
BCLC apart from the illegal sportsbook operators as it capitalizes on BCLC’s exclusive access to 
land-based experiences.  

Our employees are the backbone of our business, and we strive to create an exceptional 
workplace. In February 2025, we were pleased to be named one of B.C.’s Top 50 Employers for 
the 17th year in a row.  
 
In 2024/25, BCLC was also awarded the Best Flagship Responsible Gaming Award from the 
World Lottery Association for having the best overall program for all lottery organizations in 
the world. This was a significant milestone as it recognizes our commitment to player health 
and our extensive work in this area.  
 
Supporting our commitment to running the business in the best interest of British 
Columbians, we continue to be guided by our social purpose: “We exist to generate win-wins 
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for the greater good.” Led by our purpose and the core principles outlined in the Minister’s 
Mandate Letter, we continued to make steady progress in the implementation of our 
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Framework. 

While tariffs and the trade war have presented uncertain times for both the Province and 
BCLC, we are committed to the responsible growth of our business and reminding British 
Columbians that what’s played here, stays here. We will continue to work closely with 
government and make prudent investment decisions while seeking ways to operate our 
business more efficiently and effectively, in the best interest of British Columbians.  

 

 

 

Pat Davis 
President & CEO 
August 1, 2025 
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Purpose of the Annual Service Plan Report 
This annual service plan report has been developed to meet the requirements of the Budget 
Transparency and Accountability Act (BTAA), which sets out the legislative framework for 
planning, reporting and accountability for Government organizations. Under the BTAA, a 
Minister Responsible for a government organization is required to make public a report on the 
actual results of that organization’s performance related to the forecasted targets stated in the 
service plan for the reported year. 

Strategic Direction 
The strategic direction set by Government in 2020 and expanded upon in the Board Chair’s 
2023 Mandate Letter from the Minister Responsible shaped the goals, objectives, performance 
measures and financial plan outlined in the British Columbia Lottery Corporation 2024/25 – 
2026/27 Service Plan and the actual results reported on in this annual report.  

Purpose of the Organization 
BCLC conducts and manages commercial gambling in a socially responsible manner for the 
benefit of British Columbians. Through agreements with private-sector service providers, BCLC 
offers slot machines, table games and bingo at 22 casinos, two racecourse casinos, 12 
community gaming centres (CGCs) and one commercial bingo hall. BCLC’s lottery and sports 
betting products are sold at approximately 3,400 retail locations operated by private-sector 
retailers through Lottery Retailer Agreements. PlayNow is BCLC’s secure and regulated online 
and mobile channel, with a growing portfolio of lottery games, sports betting, slots, table 
games and bingo entertainment. BCLC also provides iGaming services and web-based and 
mobile platforms to Manitoba players through an operating contract with Manitoba Liquor & 
Lotteries and to Saskatchewan players through an exclusive licensing agreement with the 
Saskatchewan Indian Gaming Authority (SIGA) and SaskGaming. In addition, BCLC licenses its 
player health program, GameSense, to partners across North America.  

BCLC’s business strategy is guided by its social purpose “to generate win-wins for the greater 
good.” This purpose guides the organization’s decisions so that through its actions, social 
benefits are created which contribute to a better world. Its social purpose compels BCLC to 
consider how the organization creates additional value for players, employees, business 
partners, suppliers, communities, Indigenous rights and title holders, and municipal and 
provincial governments.  

The Province of B.C. uses gambling revenue generated by BCLC to benefit British Columbians 
through investments in programs and services such as education, health care, communities 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/organizational-structure/crown-corporations/mandate-letters/bc_lottery_corporation_2023_2024.pdf?forcedownload=true
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/2024/sp/pdf/agency/bclc.pdf
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/2024/sp/pdf/agency/bclc.pdf
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and culture. First Nations receive a seven percent entitlement of BCLC net income1 through 
the BC First Nations Gaming Revenue Sharing Limited Partnership. Additionally, in accordance 
with the Province’s Host Financial Assistance Agreements, municipal governments and First 
Nations that host casinos or CGCs typically receive a 10 percent share of net gaming income 
generated by those facilities.  

As a Crown corporation, BCLC is governed by B.C.’s Gaming Control Act and reports to the 
Ministry of Finance through the Crown Agencies Secretariat (CAS). The Gaming Policy and 
Enforcement Branch (GPEB) in the Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General has 
regulatory oversight of all gambling in B.C., including all commercial gambling operated by 
BCLC. BCLC also adheres to requirements set out in federal anti-money laundering (AML) 
legislation and is monitored by the Financial Transactions and Reports Analysis Centre of 
Canada (FINTRAC) for compliance with those requirements.  

The consolidated financial statements of BCLC include its wholly owned subsidiary, B.C. 
Lottotech International Inc. (Lottotech). The primary purpose of Lottotech is to purchase 
capital assets for lease to BCLC. Lottotech’s budget is reviewed and approved through BCLC’s 
annual business planning process. The financial operations, management and oversight of 
Lottotech are consolidated within BCLC operations. 
 

Operating Environment 
Economic Conditions 
In fiscal year 2024/25, the economic landscape continued to present challenges for many 
businesses, including BCLC. While inflation trended slightly downwards and the Bank of 
Canada decreased interest rates, the cost of living in B.C. remained high which impacted 
players’ discretionary spending, hindering revenue for BCLC. Casinos and CGCs, typically 
comprising 65 percent of total BCLC revenue, observed a year-over-year decline in visitations, 
participation and revenue, with lapsed visitors citing finances as an increasing barrier.   

Additionally, in February 2025, the U.S. government declared its intention to impose tariffs on 
Canada, creating considerable uncertainty around Canada’s economy and employment 
landscape. The Province of B.C. instructed Crown Agencies to avoid engaging U.S. suppliers in 
any new purchasing or procurement of goods and services, wherever feasible, in response to 
the tariffs. The tariffs and trade war have created uncertainty for BCLC in terms of increasing 
operational costs, possible disruption from transitioning to new non-U.S. vendors and further 
pressure on players’ discretionary spend. However, these economic shifts also sparked a 
renewed sense of national pride among Canadians—an opportunity BCLC seized with its 

 
1 BCLC actual net income as defined in the Long-Term BC First Nations Gaming Revenue Sharing and Financial 
Agreement. 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/indigenous-people/first-nation-gaming-revenue-sharing


 BC Lottery Corporation  
 

2024/25 Annual Service Plan Report                                                                                             Page | 9  

“What’s Played Here, Stays Here” campaign, aimed at raising awareness among those who 
choose to gamble of the benefit of keeping gambling dollars within B.C. 

Illegal iGaming Operators 
The iGaming market continued to see growth in 2024/25 as did BCLC’s iGaming business; 
however, competition from sites that operate illegally in B.C. impacted BCLC’s online growth. 
Since the Government of Ontario opened their province’s market to private-sector iGaming 
sites within a regulated framework in 2022, there has been an influx of gambling advertising 
across Canada for sites which are only licensed in Ontario. Many of these advertisements drive 
players outside of Ontario to international-affiliated sites of the same brand, which are not 
regulated by any jurisdiction in Canada. Increased demand for advertising from these sites has 
driven up the cost of advertising and sponsorship opportunities that BCLC uses to enhance the 
PlayNow brand’s presence and draw players to the only regulated option in B.C.  

BCLC is a member of the Canadian Lottery Coalition, which includes five provincial operating 
entities and is focused on raising awareness of the implications associated with misleading 
advertising and operation of illegal gambling websites, which do not provide employment or 
financial benefits to the province and present risks related to money laundering, gambling 
addiction and game integrity.  

Cyber Security 
There have been several instances of cyber-attacks on the gambling industry in Canada and 
the United States in the last two years. BCLC’s players were targeted through a July 2024 
credential stuffing attack.2 BCLC found no evidence that its systems were compromised and 
immediately implemented measures to minimize the impacts to targeted players when the 
suspicious activity was detected. Cyber-attacks can have severe impacts including core 
business downtime, permanent data loss, privacy breaches, reputational damage and 
expensive recovery costs. Continued investment in cyber security is necessary to secure BCLC’s 
systems, safeguard player data and reduce business disruption. 

Gaming Control Act and Regulations  
In the fall of 2022, Government passed Bill 32, which replaces the Gaming Control Act (GCA) 
and will come into force through regulation. Regulations under the new GCA are under 
development. BCLC continued to work with GPEB to prepare to operationalize the new GCA 
and regulations.  

Indigenous Relations  
In 2024/25, two First Nations purchased three existing casino properties. These are 
commercial sale agreements between private parties, however, the increase of Indigenous 
interest and involvement in the industry underscores the importance of BCLC's priority to 
continue the focus on building relationships with Indigenous communities and to better 
understand their needs and perspectives.  

 
2 Credential stuffing occurs when criminals attempt to access player accounts using email addresses and passwords 
previously exposed or stolen from other companies. Credential stuffing works on the premise that people often use the 
same user ID and password across multiple websites. 
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Player Health 
For most people, gambling is entertainment. However, some players experience gambling 
problems. BCLC is committed to preventing and reducing the harms that some experience 
from playing its products. However, the influx of iGaming advertisements, especially since 
Ontario's licensing of many private sector gambling sites, has heightened many people’s 
exposure to gambling and the risks associated with it. Additionally, unregulated iGaming sites 
operating in B.C. are not compelled to provide the same player health supports as PlayNow 
and other BCLC offerings.  

Report on Performance: Goals, Objectives, and 
Results 
The following goals, objectives and performance measures have been restated from the 
2024/25 – 2026/27 service plan. For forward-looking planning information, including current 
and future performance targets, please see the 2025/26 – 2027/28 British Columbia Lottery 
Corporation Service Plan. 

Goal 1: Deliver engaging experiences for our players 
BCLC’s long-term relevance is tied to keeping pace with emerging player preferences. By 
accelerating the development of digital capabilities, we will be able to create competitive, 
personalized and healthy gambling entertainment experiences while preserving the security of 
BCLC and the industry.  

Objective 1.1: Increase the percentage of player base that has a 
verified enterprise account.  
BCLC is committed to moving towards 100 percent verified play, which it already has on 
PlayNow. Increasing verified play in casinos will provide access to significant player data that 
will allow for the personalization of player health and gambling experiences. This also 
supports the Commission of Inquiry into Money Laundering in British Columbia 
recommendation for 100 percent account-based, known play in casinos.   

Key results 
• Offered enhanced Encore Rewards acquisition promotions, successfully attracting and 

engaging new members.  

• Tested improvements to the identification-at-entry process for Encore Rewards 
members in casinos and CGCs.  

• Completed development of a Verified Play Strategy and roadmap.  

• Delivered employee training in data literacy and management in alignment with Data 
Enterprise Strategy. 

https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/2025/sp/pdf/agency/bclc.pdf
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/2025/sp/pdf/agency/bclc.pdf
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• Integrated and tested key components of a Customer Identity and Access Management 
(CIAM) solution to centrally manage and verify player identities across the business.  

Summary of progress made in 2024/25 
With 100 percent verified play already in place on PlayNow, BCLC is focused on increasing 
verified play in casinos through the Encore Rewards casino loyalty program. Enhancing the 
value of the Encore Rewards program and ensuring seamless player experiences is key to 
attracting new members.  

In 2024/25, BCLC introduced an array of promotions to encourage new player registration and 
provide additional value to existing Encore Rewards members. Among these was the province-
wide Jack Up the Jackpot contest, which offered Encore Rewards members the chance to win 
substantial cash prizes. Additionally, BCLC introduced a program to incentivize front-line 
casino staff to encourage new Encore Rewards member registrations.    

BCLC began testing a new process and technology aimed at streamlining entry procedures for 
Encore Rewards members in casinos and CGCs. This initiative will allow members to enjoy fast-
track entry, eliminating the need for manual identification verification and reducing wait times 
at facility entrances. Another initiative to create a more seamless experience for Encore 
Rewards members was the introduction of cardless play which allows players to enter their 
number and pin into their machine, rather than having to carry a physical card.  

Along with enhancements to the Encore Rewards program, in 2024/25, BCLC continued to 
make progress on foundational work which will be key to achieving 100 percent verified play 
and centralized BCLC player accounts.3 This includes completing the Verified Play Strategy and 
roadmap for critical technology implementation, enhancing data governance and literacy 
across the organization, testing the CIAM solution for iGaming and defining the CIAM 
roadmap for integration across the remainder of the business.  

Objective 1.2: Ensure products and experiences offered by BCLC satisfy 
players’ expectations. 
BCLC wants players to feel satisfied with the products and entertainment choices offered at 
their brick-and-mortar and iGaming spaces.  

Key results 
• Completed the retail transformation project, replacing and upgrading all lottery 

equipment hardware at over 3,400 lottery locations.  

• Continued to launch new products, promotions and introduced enhancements to 
existing games, including a new retail sports offering and enhancements to the 
PlayNow sportsbook. 

 
3 Currently players require separate player accounts for PlayNow and Encore Rewards. A centralized player account 
will enable a single player account that can be used when playing across all BCLC channels (brick & mortar casinos 
or CGCs, retail and online through PlayNow).  
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• Introduced a new player engagement strategy for PlayNow which focuses on 
enhancing the appeal of the platform to retain existing iCasino players and attract 
potential new players.   

• Leveraged sponsorships with major B.C. sports organizations, including PlayNow 
Sports experiential marketing activations with the Vancouver Canucks and BC Lions, 
and hosted unique playoff viewing experiences during the Vancouver Canuck’s 2024 
playoff run.  

Summary of progress made in 2024/25 
Offering engaging products and experiences continued to be a focus, and in 2024/25, BCLC 
introduced new games and experiences, as well as enhancements to existing products across 
the business.  

The completion of the lottery terminal replacement project introduced a more modern retail 
experience with faster processing time for tickets, improved signage and enhanced self-
service capabilities on self-service terminals. The Concert of a Lifetime Scratch & Win ticket 
launched in August 2024, which provided a new opportunity to reach the under 35 
demographic that does not typically participate in many traditional Scratch & Win offerings. In 
September 2024, the Lotto Max jackpot cap was increased from $70 million to $80 million, the 
highest jackpot cap for a Canadian lottery ever.   

BCLC also introduced a new digital retail sportsbook, PROLINE, as part of the new lottery 
terminals and includes new offerings like single-event betting, improved odds and more 
markets to bet on. In addition, BCLC launched the province’s first-ever sportsbook lounges at 
two casino locations.  

Casino and CGC gaming floors were refreshed to ensure players were experiencing the latest 
technology and game content. A new player engagement strategy for PlayNow’s iCasino 
players was also launched, which focuses on offering rewards to keep existing players 
engaged and make the platform more attractive to potential new players.  

Performance measures and related discussion 

Performance Measure 2023/24 Actual3 2024/25 Target 2024/25 Actual 

[1.1] Percentage of player base 
that has a verified Encore 
Rewards account1,2 

Not available 49% 53% 

Data source: BCLC iTrak (an internal software platform used for daily log reporting and incident management) and BCLC 
Enterprise Data Warehouse 
1PM [1.1] targets for 2025/26 and 2026/27 were stated in the 2024/25 service plan as 51% and 53% respectively.  
2Targets for performance measure [1.1] were revised in the latest service plan. 
3No actual results available for 2023/24 as tracking did not begin until June 2023, partway through the fiscal year.  
 
The June 2023 introduction of enhanced identification requirements at casinos requires guests 
and players to present government-issued photo identification for entry. While no player 
information is stored, a total count of visitors and players is logged, with the percentage of 
account-based play determined based on the number of players playing with an Encore 
Rewards card. 
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In 2024/25, BCLC surpassed the target for percentage of player base that has a verified Encore 
Rewards account. This increase may be attributed to the various promotions to encourage 
new players to sign up for Encore Rewards memberships, as well as promotions that 
continued to drive value for existing members.  

Over the past year, BCLC saw 131,000 new active Encore Rewards members. New active Encore 
Rewards members are defined as new registered players as well as players who were already 
Encore Rewards members who reactivated their status in 2024/25 after not playing for more 
than a year. Another factor which may have led to a minor increase is the introduction of 
cardless play in 2024/25. This reduces friction for players who forget their Encore Rewards 
card, as they can simply enter their number and pin into their machine. 

Player Experience Index 

At the time of writing the 2024/25 Service Plan, BCLC was developing a new metric, the Player 
Experience Index (PXI). The development of the metric was completed in 2024/25 and baseline 
data collection for the metric commenced in July 2024. Accordingly, there are no results or 
targets to report out on in 2024/25. Targets for the metric were introduced in the 2025/26 
BCLC Service Plan and will be reported out on in future annual reports.  

The PXI is a measure out of 100 and was developed to account for the various aspects of a 
player's experience such as customer service, atmosphere/environment, information, safety 
and comfort, wait times, variety of products and amenities, fairness, value for money and how 
engaged players feel. Moving forward, the PXI score will be BCLC’s core metric to measure 
player satisfaction and will allow BCLC to pinpoint the specific areas of player experience that 
need to be addressed and optimized.  

Goal 2: Generate responsible net income for the 
benefit of all British Columbians 

Objective 2.1: Reduce harms associated with gambling. 
Growing responsibly requires a focus on reducing harms associated with gambling. BCLC 
strives to lower Problem Gambling Severity Index (PGSI) scores among higher-risk players 
through various interventions and education programs.  

Key results 
• Developed an outcomes framework to define, measure and monitor safer play and 

gambling-harm reduction in land-based facilities.    

• Developed and deployed safer-gambling messaging around sports betting, including 
brochures and digital content for the launch of BCLC's new retail sports product, 
PROLINE.  

• Leveraged research to inform an integrated GameSense campaign focused on older 
adults, which includes marketing, in-venue educational programming at GameSense 
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Info Centres, and new interactive content on GameSense.com to promote meaningful 
engagement with key messages.    

• Liaised with player health stakeholders to foster relationships and gain specialized 
insights to better support players through an overarching, systems-based approach.  

Summary of progress made in 2024/25 
In 2024/25, BCLC began implementation of its five-year Player Health Strategy. The strategy 
focuses on better understanding players, personalizing their experiences, and fostering a 
player health culture at BCLC and across the industry. In the first year since the launch of the 
Player Health Strategy, considerable progress has been made.  

An outcomes framework was developed which aims to identify both short-term and long-term 
outcomes to effectively capture and measure safer gambling practices. A pilot was executed at 
four casinos and the results are currently under evaluation with recommendations anticipated 
for a provincial rollout of the framework in the next year.   

Recognizing that online play through PlayNow continues to be a priority area, BCLC developed 
a player health framework specific to iGaming. This included identifying safer play tools to be 
adopted on PlayNow as well as building player health approaches that are based on evidence 
and reflect best practices.  

Over the past year, BCLC has been working to build relationships with stakeholders and 
collaborators in the safer gambling space such as GPEB, the Deputy Chief Medical Officer with 
Vancouver Coastal Health and the City of Vancouver to provide an overview of BCLC player 
health approach and programs. One outcome of this was research conducted by Mental 
Health Research Canada to better understand PGSI drivers specific to B.C. Understanding 
these drivers will help strengthen BCLC’s ability to deliver safer gambling programs that are 
uniquely tailored to the needs of players in B.C.  

A GameSense brand strategy refresh was also initiated. The goal of this work is to enhance 
awareness, familiarity and relevance of the brand and ensure continued value to players and 
BCLC’s GameSense partners.  

Objective 2.2: Reduce the number of incidents related to potential 
crime in and near facilities, including brick-and-mortar, online and/or 
related to BCLC-managed gambling products. 
Any criminal activity related to gambling and in BCLC’s business is a concern for British 
Columbians. BCLC continues to make investments to detect and eliminate the risk of crime. 
This includes investments in new technologies and ongoing collaboration with law 
enforcement and industry stakeholders.         
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Key results 
• Completed the implementation of the Everi Compliance platform across casinos and 

CGCs, a cutting-edge transaction monitoring system that modernizes processes and 
strengthens BCLC’s anti-money laundering (AML) program.   

• Leveraged Everi Compliance to mitigate the risk of money laundering associated to 
cash buy-ins under $10,000 (through the identification of players at the lower threshold 
of $3,000), provide insights into player behaviours and support Cullen Commission 
recommendations for BCLC.   

• Assisted government, through GPEB and the RCMP’s Joint Illegal Gaming Investigations 
Team, in meeting its responsibilities for the overall integrity of gambling by ensuring 
casino service providers adhere to BCLC’s policies, procedures, and B.C. liquor policies 
and regulations, and through ongoing collaboration and participation in the RCMP-led 
Counter Illicit Finance Alliance of British Columbia.  

• Removed prepaid credit cards as a permitted deposit instrument on PlayNow due to 
the risk they could be used to conceal the origins of potentially illicit funds.  

Summary of progress made in 2024/25 
BCLC has remained steadfast in prioritizing the safety of players and the public in its 
operations. Through collaboration with B.C. casino service providers, law enforcement 
agencies and GPEB, BCLC has established a proactive network to safeguard facilities from 
unsafe behaviours and criminal activity.  

The completed implementation of the Everi Compliance software solution allows BCLC to 
minimize the risks of money laundering associated with unknown play, increase the efficiency 
and effectiveness of the investigation and filing of suspicious transaction reports to FINTRAC 
and maintain a more secure overall gambling environment.   

The Everi Compliance platform gives BCLC the capability to conduct more thorough analysis of 
patrons’ activity across all gambling facilities and review reports with greater detail. For 
example, as soon as a player hits an aggregate $10,000 buy-in threshold across all sites in a 
static 24-hour gaming day, an alert is triggered for the player to complete a Source of Funds 
Declaration.4  

Objective 2.3: Optimize net income through investment to sustain the 
long-term health of the business. 
BCLC serves the Province by operating gambling in a secure and responsible manner, while 
also proactively investing in new systems, technology and talent that support the responsible 
generation of revenue for Government.   

 

 
4 BCLC requires casino and CGC operators to complete a Source of Funds Declaration for all cash and bank draft/certified 
cheque buy-ins of $10,000 or more.  
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Key results 
• Successfully completed the replacement and upgrade of lottery terminals and 

equipment at 3,400 retailers across the province and rolled out a new digital retail 
sportsbook, PROLINE, replacing Sports Action. 

• Introduced new mobile digital experiences such as adding Live Casino games to the 
Lotto App and extending the app to Android users. 

• Took steps towards upgrading to a new and more scalable online casino platform, 
including issuing a request for proposal for a new platform.  

• Launched marketing campaigns and expanded promotions to attract new players and 
encourage existing players to try different products and channels.  

Summary of progress made in 2024/25 
In 2024/25, BCLC continued to make investments in hardware, systems and technology to 
sustain the long-term health of the business and identify opportunities to create exceptional 
experiences for players that nurture and safeguard healthy play across all channels. 
Investments were also made to expand and enhance product offerings. Examples include (in 
addition to those mentioned under Key Results) the Lotto Max jackpot cap increase to $80 
million, refreshing slot machine content and offering engaging promotions and programs that 
provide value to players. BCLC completed its first year of an ambitious new five-year corporate 
strategy designed to respond to the changing realities and challenges facing the company and 
the industry. The strategy positions the organization for future growth and amplified impact in 
the province. The organization continued to prioritize growth and operational efficiency, 
balancing the need to invest and remain fiscally responsible.  

Performance measures and related discussion 

Performance Measure 2023/24 Actual 2024/25 Target 2024/25 Actual 

[2.1] Percentage of BCLC players 
who score as high risk on the 
PGSI1,2 

11% 9% 13% 

Data source: Continuous tracking survey conducted online by a third-party research professional.  
1PM [2.1] targets for 2025/26 and 2026/27 were stated in the 2024/25 service plan as 8% and 7% respectively.   
2Targets for performance measure [2.1] were revised in the latest service plan. 

The PGSI is a widely used tool for assessing self-reported, at-risk gambling behaviors. It is a 
standardized measure that is recognized globally and based on research of common signs and 
consequences of problematic gambling. The tool enables BCLC to monitor the proportion of 
high-risk players in its player base, which is essential to BCLC’s efforts to promote healthy play 
and reduce the risk of gambling-related harms.  

The 2024/25 enterprise PGSI score fell short of target by four percent and saw an unfavorable 
increase by two percent over the previous year. This trend is concerning and national and 
provincial data shows that other jurisdictions with similar mixes of product offerings to BCLC 
are also observing similar trends. Factors that increase PGSI scores may include but are not 
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limited to culture, economic status, economic conditions such as the cost of living, gender, age 
and exposure to excessive gambling advertising, which can lead to additional high-risk 
gambling behaviours. This risk could be exacerbated by advertising from illegal and 
unregulated iGaming operators, which has seen a steep increase since the Government of 
Ontario launched the licensing of private-sector iGaming sites in 2022. In fiscal 2024/25, BCLC 
commissioned research to better understand the drivers that are contributing to the higher 
scores specific to B.C. BCLC is currently reviewing the results of this research, which will help to 
inform strategies to support players through tailored programming. Moving forward, BCLC 
will continue to focus on prioritizing player health and better understanding its players 
through evidence-based research.  

Performance Measure 2023/24 Actual 2024/25 Target 2024/25 Actual 

[2.2] Number of incidents of 
reports of potential crime1,2 4,082 3,822 3,452  

Data source: BCLC iTrak (an internal software platform used for daily log reporting and incident management) and 
Salesforce Database.  
1PM [2.2] targets for 2025/26 and 2026/27 were stated in the 2024/25 service plan as 3,631 and 3,449 respectively.   
2Peformance measure was removed in the latest service plan in order to align the service plan with BCLC's updated 
corporate strategy.  BCLC continues to take these matters seriously and has ongoing actions and measures of this important 
area of the business.  

In 2024/25, the number of incidents of reports of potential crime declined from the prior year 
and were below target. One factor that may have contributed to this positive shift is the 
completion of the Lottery Terminal Replacement program which added a new point-of-sale 
activation process for Scratch & Win tickets, making them less susceptible to theft. 
Additionally, 2024/25 was the first full year of identification at entry, which requires every 
individual to present government-issued photo identification for entry at casinos and CGGs. 
While the primary goal of the program is to support self-excluded individuals by preventing 
their entry to gaming facilities, it also prevents entry for players who have been barred for 
exhibiting unfavourable behaviour.   

Performance Measure 2023/24 Actual 2024/25 Target 2024/25 Actual 

[2.3] Net Income ($ millions) 1,2 1,548 1,436 1,408 
Data source: BCLC’s financial plan and audited financial statements (see Appendix C). Actual results are calculated in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards. 
1PM [2.3] targets for 2025/26 and 2026/27 were stated in the 2024/25 service plan as 1,450 and 1,494 respectively.  
2Targets for performance measure [2.3] were revised in the latest service plan. 
 
BCLC’s 2024/25 net income of $1.408 billion was $28 million lower than target and $140 million 
lower than the previous year. The lower performance in comparison to budget is primarily due 
to a shortfall in revenue of three percent.  

Casino revenue makes up approximately 65 percent of total BCLC revenue. When the 2024/25 
revenue budget was developed, casino revenue trends in fiscal 2023/24 were declining; 
however, these trends were assumed to improve starting in late fiscal year 2024/25 in line with 
improved economic conditions and a return on investments in enhanced customer experience. 
Although economic factors such as inflation trended downwards, alongside ongoing Bank of 
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Canada interest rate cuts throughout the 2024/25 fiscal year, the impact of these factors did 
not have time to translate to increased player discretionary spend on gambling. The cost of 
living in B.C. continues to be high and uncertainty in the economy continues to grow with the 
evolving US tariff situation, which started in the second half of the fiscal year.    

B.C. iGaming players continue to be exposed to illegal iGaming operators who are advertising 
and offering lucrative player acquisition incentives. Despite a higher than budgeted number of 
Lotto Max and Lotto 6/49 large jackpots, sales per jackpot level declined – a trend observed 
nationally. To mitigate top line risk, BCLC identified, developed, and implemented incremental 
casino and PlayNow marketing promotions and programs in the second half of the fiscal year 
which included the “What’s Played Here, Stays Here” campaign focused on raising awareness 
among those who choose to gamble of the benefit of keeping gambling dollars within B.C.  

Partially offsetting the impact of revenue declines was lower-than-budgeted expenses. Direct 
costs are largely based on revenue levels and declined accordingly. Other operating expenses 
were lower than budgeted, primarily driven by deliberate cost rationalization to mitigate 
revenue decline and project slippage. Taxes were also lower in line with lower expenditures. 

Goal 3: Amplify our social and economic impact across 
the province 
As a Crown corporation and social purpose organization, BCLC has the opportunity and 
mandate to amplify its commitment to the greater good. 

Objective 3.1: Use our environmental, social and governance (ESG) 
Framework to embed social purpose into our business. 
BCLC is continually seeking ways to further integrate social purpose into all that it does. BCLC’s 
ESG Framework outlines the organization’s approach to managing material environmental, 
social and governance risks and opportunities, supporting positive outcomes for employees, 
stakeholders, Indigenous rights holders and the community at large. 

Key results 
• Leveraged an enterprise-wide, cross-functional ESG Working Group to oversee the 

implementation of BCLC’s ESG Framework and policy. 

• Conducted an ESG risk assessment to identify ESG-related emerging risks and 
opportunities, which will inform an updated ESG Framework.  

• Delivered ESG education and training workshops for employees, improving their 
understanding of BCLC’s ESG Framework and their role in implementing it.   

• Incorporated social purpose into people processes including recruitment practices, 
onboarding and leadership development programs.  
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Summary of progress made in 2024/25 
In 2024/25, BCLC continued to make progress in the implementation of BCLC’s ESG Framework 
and ESG policy. The ESG Framework has three main themes with corresponding goals: become 
a leader in addressing climate change and the circular economy; create a positive social 
impact; and govern in the public interest. There are 49 key actions that support the ESG 
Framework’s three main goals. Examples of these actions include: develop and implement a 
plan to source renewable energy; implement a climate change strategy; foster a culture of 
diversity, inclusion and belonging; finalize and implement an Indigenous Reconciliation Action 
Plan; and influence industry level change. The ESG Policy sets out how BCLC will integrate ESG 
principles in the conduct of business and includes engaging and enabling all BCLC employees 
to incorporate ESG principles into their work.  

Approximately 50 percent of all BCLC employees completed ESG training and social purpose 
modules were integrated into new employee onboarding processes and leadership 
development programming.  

BCLC’s Enterprise Risk Management Services team facilitated an independent assessment to 
identify and prioritize ESG risks and opportunities specific to its operations. Examples of 
emerging risks that were identified include the need for enhanced governance around 
artificial intelligence (AI) and vulnerabilities in the supply chain in relation to climate-related 
events. The findings will inform updates to BCLC’s ESG Framework, to enhance the 
corporation’s ESG practices and ensure resilience against emerging risks in the future.   

Objective 3.2: Reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions throughout 
our value chain. 
This objective supports BCLC’s commitment to ensuring that its business operations align with 
and exceed the Government of British Columbia’s climate plan, highlighting strategies for 
minimizing GHG emissions and moving towards a low-carbon economy.  

Key results 
• Progressed the development of a Climate Change Strategy focused on emission 

reductions and operational resilience.  

• Continued to source renewable energy for the Kamloops office through the purchase 
of renewable natural gas through FortisBC.  

• Initiated engagement with service providers around conducting energy audits to 
identify opportunities to reduce emissions across their operations. 

Summary of progress made in 2024/25 
BCLC made significant progress on the development of a Climate Change Strategy which 
outlines how the organization will reduce GHG emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions5) while 

 
5 Scope 1 emissions are direct emissions from owned or controlled resources. Scope 2 emissions are indirect emissions from 
the generation of purchased energy. Scope 3 emissions are all indirect emissions (not included in Scope 2) that occur in the 
value chain, including both upstream and downstream emissions. Source: GHG Protocol. 
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integrating adaptation and resiliency measures to mitigate the negative impacts of climate-
related risks. The Strategy also outlines opportunities in the transition to a low-carbon 
economy. 

2024/25 was the first full year of sourcing renewable energy for the Kamloops office. As a 
result, BCLC saw a 75 percent reduction in Scope 1 emissions.  

Collaboration with service providers is essential to decarbonizing operations and reducing 
Scope 3 emissions throughout BCLC’s value chain. In 2024/25, BCLC initiated preliminary 
conversations with service providers about conducting energy audits at casino facilities across 
the province. The results of these audits, once completed, will be used to develop energy 
management plans specific to each participating facility over the coming years.    

Performance measures and related discussion 

Performance Measure 2023/24 Actual 2024/25 Target 2024/25 Actual 

[3.1] ESG Performance Index 
score: number (percentage) of ESG 
actions that are on track or 
achieved out of 49 key action 
items 1,2 

21 (43%) 29 (59%) 36 (73%) 

Data source: BCLC’s ESG Scorecard. 
1 PM [3.1] targets for 2025/26 and 2026/27 were stated in the 2024/25 service plan as 36 (73%) and 47 (96%) respectively.  
2 Targets for performance measure [3.1] were revised in the latest service plan. 
 
In 2024/25, BCLC exceeded the 2024/25 ESG Performance Index score target. Examples of 
progress against the key action items in the past year include sourcing renewable energy for 
the Kamloops office, completing an ESG risk assessment and initiating a national gambling 
ESG working group with other provincial gambling authorities across the country.  

Performance Measure 2023/24 Actual 2024/25 Target4 2024/25 Actual 

[3.2] Scope 3 emissions 
(tonnes of CO2)1,2, 3 

Tier 1: Not available  
 

Tier 2: Not available 

Tier 1: 61,667  
 

Tier 2: 33,931 

Tier 1: Not available  
 

Tier 2: Not available 
Data source: There are 15 categories of Scope 3 emissions. Depending on the category, Scope 3 emissions are collected and 
quantified using either primary data specific to the activity within a company's value chain (including procurement data, 
transport data, fuel purchases, utility bills provided by service providers) or secondary data such as industry averages, proxy 
data, or other generic data. 
1 PM [3.2] targets for 2025/26 and 2026/27 were stated in the 2024/25 service plan as Tier 1: 55,994 and Tier 2: 30,809, and 
Tier 1: 50,842 and Tier 2: 27,975 respectively.  
2 Targets for performance measure [3.2] were revised in the latest service plan. 
3 Scope 3 emissions are the indirect GHG emissions that occur in a company’s value chain, including activities outside of its 
direct operations, such as those of suppliers and customers. These emissions are broken down into two tiers. Tier 1: 
Emissions related to the products BCLC owns, sells or leases (under BCLC's direct control). Tier 2: Emissions from casino 
operations (BCLC's indirect control). 
4 The initial target for 2024/25 was developed in consideration of BCLC’s 2019 Scope 3 calculation, which was determined 
following industry standards for calculating Scope 3 emissions from the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG Protocol). 
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Actual data is not available as BCLC did not initiate tracking for Scope 3 emissions as planned. 
Tracking Scope 3 emissions is complex and in BCLC’s instance, requires significant 
collaboration with service providers. Given economic conditions and resource constraints, the 
implementation of initiatives to reduce Scope 3 emissions was delayed. Accordingly, BCLC 
made the decision late in the fiscal year to change focus and postpone tracking until 
implementation of a new Climate Change Strategy, that was under development in 2024/25, 
begins in future years.  

BCLC will be removing the performance measures from future service plans until it advances 
implementation of the Strategy and initiatives within it to reduce Scope 3 emissions.6 Once 
implementation of these initiatives is underway, BCLC will re-evaluate its reporting 
methodology, targets and tracking systems to support the quality of reporting of this nature. 
In the meantime, Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions were introduced as performance measures in 
the 2025/26 Service Plan, as BCLC is actively tracking and taking action to reduce these 
emissions in the coming years.   

Goal 4: Be a sought-after partner for the shared value 
we can create together 

Objective 4.1: Deepen our relationships with partners, stakeholders, 
and Indigenous rights and title holders. 
A focus on win-wins for the greater good requires collaboration with stakeholders and with 
Indigenous rights and title holders on mutually beneficial strategies that create a positive 
benefit beyond the partnerships.  

Key results 
• Initiated development of an Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan, focused on building 

relationships, respecting rights and fostering partnerships. 

• Recruited for an entirely Indigenous cohort for BCLC’s Customer Support Centre.  

• Initiated the first phase of the Committed level towards achieving the Canadian Council 
for Indigenous Business’s Partnership Accreditation in Indigenous Relations (PAIR) 
certification.7  

• Developed a Service Provider Stakeholder Engagement Plan and Municipal 
Government Stakeholder Engagement Plan to enhance collaboration, trust and 
mutually beneficial relationships with service providers and municipalities.  

 
6 Although Scope 3 emission targets were included into the 2025/26 BCLC Service Plan, a late decision in the 
2024/25 fiscal year to postpone tracking means they will not be included in the next Annual Service Plan Report. 
7 PAIR certification reflects an organization's commitment to Indigenous relations in the areas of leadership, 
community, employment and business development. In the Committed phase, companies self-report performance 
using the PAIR tool over three annual cycles, receiving independent feedback to prepare for certification. 
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• Continued corporate sponsorships and community outreach efforts to raise awareness 
and understanding of BCLC and the gambling industry, including how BCLC gaming 
revenue benefits communities. 

Summary of progress made in 2024/25 

In 2024/25, BCLC continued efforts to establish and improve relationships with Indigenous 
rights and title holders, Indigenous governments and Indigenous employees within BCLC. A 
significant focus was work towards developing an Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan. Once 
finalized, the plan will outline goals and actions BCLC will take to advance reconciliation with 
Indigenous peoples and support common goals towards reconciliation that align with the 
Declaration Act, the Declaration Act Action Plan and the Truth and Reconciliation Commission 
of Canada Calls to Action.  

BCLC hosted an Indigenous Vendors Showcase in collaboration with the Sc.wén̓wen Economic 
Development Corporation, City of Kamloops, and Thompson Rivers University. The goal of the 
event was to connect Indigenous-owned businesses with purchasers from within the region. 
This event also supported BCLC’s efforts to increase Indigenous procurement in the business. 
In addition, BCLC launched a Customer Support Centre Indigenous cohort program with a 
focus on hiring that will maximize the success of candidates by allowing the organization to 
apply a culturally sensitive lens to training and supervision. The organization received 
authorization to hire an Indigenous-only cohort through a special program designation from 
the BC Office of the Human Rights Commissioner, who authorized the program for a period of 
five years, starting in October 2024.  

BCLC collaborated with Indigenous communities to develop and launch GameSense brochures 
in Chinook Jargon and Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Sníchim (Squamish Language) to better support 
Indigenous players. Recognizing the importance of language to Indigenous identity, BCLC also 
developed plans to continue translation including through collaboration with Ktunaxa Nation, 
Cowichan Tribes and Adams Lake Indian Band. As part of updates to a large meeting room 
space in the Kamloops office, BCLC collaborated with the Tk’emlúps te Secwépemc and 
Indigenous artist, Laura Saul, on an Indigenous artwork mural to incorporate and recognize 
Indigenous history and culture. BCLC also sponsored several Indigenous arts, culture, sports 
and employment or economic-development-focused events, such as the Kamloopa Powwow, 
Stɑl'əw̓ Pow Wow and Indigenous Business Awards.  

The organization also continued to sponsor various other initiatives across the province that 
align and reflect BCLC’s social purpose. As part of its sports partnerships, BCLC works to 
recognize individuals who make a positive impact in their communities with a unique fan 
experience at BC Lions, Vancouver Canucks and Abbotsford Canucks home games.  

To support the organization’s success in achievement of its strategy and fulfillment of its 
purpose to create win-wins for the greater good, BCLC is implementing a Stakeholder 
Governance Framework to strengthen mutually beneficial relationships. BCLC made significant 
progress in 2024/25 with the development of both a Service Provider Stakeholder Engagement 
Plan and a Municipal Government Stakeholder Engagement Plan. These plans set out how 
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BCLC can build positive reciprocal relationships and continue to deliver on its strategy while 
generating win-wins for service providers, communities and BCLC.  

Performance measures and related discussion 
BCLC is developing new metrics to assess and measure the effectiveness of relationships and 
activities, which will be introduced in future reports. A key component of the development of 
the Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan includes developing metrics that will measure the 
effectiveness of the plan. Additionally, as BCLC rolls out its Service Provider and Municipal 
Government Stakeholder Engagement Plans, a metric will be introduced to measure 
community engagement efforts.  
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Financial Report 
For the auditor’s report and audited consolidated financial statements, see Appendix C. These 
documents can also be found on BCLC’s website. 

Discussion of Results 
BCLC generated net income of $1.408 billion for fiscal year 2024/25 from total revenue of 
$2.803 billion. Of the net income, $1.395 billion was distributed to the Province of British 
Columbia to support health care, education, and community programs and $13 million was 
remitted to the federal government based on the agreement between the provincial and 
federal governments following the withdrawal of the Government of Canada from the lottery 
field. 

BCLC’s revenue was $88 million lower than budget but this decline in revenue was largely 
offset by total expenses and indirect tax being $60 million lower than budget, resulting in net 
income $28 million below the target budget and $140 million lower than the previous year.  

Casino revenue, which accounts for approximately 65 percent of BCLC’s total revenue, fell 
short of forecast. While inflation eased and the Bank of Canada cut interest rates during the 
year, these improvements did not translate into higher player spending. Discretionary income 
remained constrained by high living costs and broader economic uncertainty, including 
evolving U.S. trade dynamics. 

In response to the decline in revenue and changing market conditions, BCLC implemented 
several mitigation strategies. These included targeted marketing campaigns such as “What’s 
Played Here, Stays Here,” expanded digital engagement efforts, and deliberate cost 
containment across multiple areas, including staffing, travel, and project delivery. 

iGaming revenue saw modest growth over prior year, supported by enhancements to PlayNow 
and increased accessibility through mobile platforms, such as adding Live Casino games to the 
Lotto App and extending the app to Android users. However, growth was limited by persistent 
competition from illegal iGaming operators offering unregulated incentives and advertising. 

BCLC also made strategic investments in infrastructure, including the lottery terminal 
replacement project and the launch of a new retail sportsbook, to modernize operations and 
position the business for long-term sustainability.  

While financial results were below budget, BCLC managed expenses and adapted to evolving 
economic conditions, helping limit the impact of an $88 million revenue shortfall to a $28 
million shortfall in net income.  
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Financial Summary 
($m)¹ 2023/24 

Actual  
2024/25 
Budget  

2024/25 
Actual 

2024/25 
Variance²  

Total Revenue 2,871 2,891 2,803 (88) 

Expenses     

Direct Costs 861 903 871 32 

Gaming Support Costs 64 78 73 5 

Operating Costs 252 299 289 10 

Amortization & Other 75 92 87 5 

Total Expenses 1,252 1,372 1,320 52 

Net Income Before Taxes 1,619 1,519 1,483 (36) 

Indirect Tax 71 83 75 8 

Net Income 1,548 1,436 1,408 (28) 

Total Liabilities 598 565 575 (10) 

Capital Expenditures 77 100 98 2 

Total Equity 64 71 86 15 
1 Financial information was prepared based on current IFRS Accounting Standards. 
2 Favourable (unfavourable) 2024/25 Actual vs 2024/25 Budget. 
 

Variance and Trend Analysis 
Revenue 

Revenues are comprised of the amounts earned from the provision of gambling products to 
players, and the provision of contracted gambling services to other jurisdictions. 

Actual revenue totaled $2.803 billion, a $68 million (two percent) decrease from the previous 
year and an $88 million (three percent) shortfall from budget. 

Budget variance 

• Land-based gaming revenue fell short of expectations: Revenue from casinos did not 
meet budget expectations, as anticipated improvements in economic conditions did not 
translate into higher player spending within the fiscal year. Additionally, uncertainty 
caused by evolving global trade tensions introduced new economic pressures that were 
not accounted for when the budget was developed. 

• Digital enhancements: Online revenue was lower than expected in iGaming partly due to 
delays in launching new digital gambling products that were planned to improve the user 
experience and attract new players. B.C. online players continued to be exposed to 
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advertising and offers from illegal iGaming operators. 

Year-over-year variance 

• Casino visitation and participation declined: Casino and community gaming revenue 
was lower than the previous year, reflecting sustained economic pressures such as the 
high cost of living, rising unemployment, and global trade uncertainty. These factors 
reduced how frequently players visited facilities and how much they spent during each 
visit. 

• Lottery performance softened:  Despite a higher number of large jackpot draws 
compared to the previous year, overall lottery revenue declined due to lower average sales 
per jackpot—a trend observed nationally. Minor disruptions from the replacement of 
lottery terminals also affected sales. Additionally, retail sports betting revenue was lower 
year-over-year due to an offline period related to the transition from Sports Action to the 
new PROLINE product, which shortened the retail sales period for sports betting. 

• iGaming saw modest gains: Online revenue increased from the previous year, supported 
by growth in digital lottery engagement and business-to-business revenues. Expanded 
access to gaming through the Lotto App helped offset broader industry challenges. 

Direct Costs 

Direct costs, which vary with revenue, primarily relate to commissions paid to private-sector 
gambling facility service providers, lottery retailers and revenue share payments to PlayNow 
gambling content providers. 

Actual costs totaled $871 million, which is $10 million (one percent) higher than the previous 
year but $32 million (four percent) below budget. 

Budget variance 

• Reduced revenue: The decrease is aligned with the reduction in revenue, reflecting the 
variable nature of these costs. 

Gaming Support Costs 

These costs are largely for gaming systems maintenance and upkeep and therefore do not 
vary significantly with gaming activity. 

Actual costs totaled $73 million, which is $9 million (14 percent) higher than the previous year 
but $5 million (six percent) below budget. 

Budget variance 

• Reduced spending on planned technology initiatives: The variance was mainly due to 
reduced spending on online gaming system projects. This included the cancellation of a 
planned hosting arrangement and the capitalization of internal labour that had originally 
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been budgeted as an expense. Additional savings resulted from delays in launching the 
new lottery terminals and customer identity platform. 

Year-over-year variance 

• Rising costs for digital infrastructure and support: The increase from the prior year was 
driven by a combination of higher costs for cloud storage, network infrastructure and 
software licensing and support, reflecting both inflationary increases on existing services 
and continued growth in BCLC’s digital operations. 

Operating Costs 

These costs are made up of items such as salaries and benefits, marketing and advertising, 
professional fees, cost of premises and equipment. 

Actual costs totaled $289 million, which is $37 million (15 percent) higher than the previous 
year but $10 million (three percent) below budget. 

Budget variance 

• Lower project spending: Some initiatives were delayed or expenses were less than 
planned due to timing differences. 

• Cost saving measures: Reductions in employee-related expenses, travel, and other 
discretionary spending contributed to lower overall costs. 

Year-over-year variance 

• Staffing and compensation growth: Higher salaries and benefits reflect the impacts of 
merit increases, workforce planning, and efforts to ensure BCLC has the capabilities 
needed to deliver its corporate strategy. 

• Increased professional and project support costs: Professional fees rose due to support 
for strategic initiatives and technology-driven projects. 

Amortization and Other 

This balance relates primarily to depreciation of property and equipment, amortization of 
software costs, interest, financing costs and other miscellaneous items. 

Actual costs totaled $87 million, which is $12 million (16 percent) higher than the previous year, 
but $5 million (5 percent) lower than budget. 

Budget variance 

• Lower capital spend: The variance from budget is driven primarily by 
depreciation/amortization due to lower than anticipated capital expenditures and revised 
launch date of projects. 
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Year-over-year variance 

• Higher capital spend and changes in operating recoveries: The increase compared to 
the prior year was driven by higher amortization costs following greater capital investment. 
Other contributing factors included a smaller refund from shared lottery operations and 
lower service fee recoveries associated with casino service provider agreements. 

Indirect Tax 

These costs relate to Goods and Services Tax (GST) as prescribed under the Games of Chance 
(GST/HST) Regulations of the Excise Tax Act (Canada), and Provincial Sales Tax paid on 
purchases as prescribed under the Provincial Sales Tax Act. 

Actual costs totaled $75 million, which is $4 million (six percent) higher than the previous year 
but $8 million (10 percent) lower than budget. 

Year-over-year & budget variance 

• The variance is driven by the change in other expense categories as detailed in the 
previous sections. 

Total Equity 

Total equity is comprised of accumulated surplus (deficit) and accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss). 

Accumulated surplus (deficit) represents the cumulative balance of net income from all years of 
operation, less any distributions of net income to the Government of British Columbia or 
payments to the Government of Canada on behalf of the Government of British Columbia. 

As BCLC remits all its net income, it would be expected to report a nil accumulated 
surplus or deficit balance. However, the retrospective application of changes in 
accounting standards or policies may require BCLC to retroactively adjust its historical 
net income, resulting in an accumulated surplus or deficit. 

The accumulated deficit of $18 million is consistent with the prior year. 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) represents items of income and expenses 
that are not recognized through profit or loss (net income). For BCLC, those items relate 
primarily to the remeasurement of the company’s defined benefit plans. The $15 million 
favourable variance from budget is due to strong performance of pension plan investments.  

Risks and Uncertainties 
This section highlights key risks that may affect BCLC’s strategy, business operations and 
financial performance. These risks reflect the broader environment in which BCLC operates 
and are managed through a comprehensive enterprise risk management approach.  
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Risk Governance at BCLC   

BCLC’s Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework supports informed, risk-based decision-
making and reinforces the organization’s commitment to integrity, sustainability, and public 
accountability. Aligned with ISO 31000 and the B.C. Public Sector Risk Management Guideline, 
with internal control evaluation based on the COSO framework, ERM is embedded in both 
strategic and daily operations. The Board of Directors, through the Strategy Committee, 
oversees risk governance, while Executive Management handles day-to-day risk management, 
identifying emerging risks, implementing mitigation strategies, and integrating risk 
considerations into business processes. BCLC’s Enterprise Risk Management Services (ERMS) 
provides independent oversight, expert insight, and quarterly risk reports to the Strategy 
Committee on key risks, treatment progress, and emerging issues. 

BCLC manages a range of risks, including cybersecurity threats that could disrupt operations 
and erode public trust, economic pressures affecting discretionary spending on gambling, 
evolving consumer expectations around digital entertainment, regulatory changes that may 
alter competitive dynamics, workforce availability challenges that impact modernization 
initiatives, and fluctuations in jackpot activity that influence lottery revenue. Addressing these 
risks requires ongoing strategic investment, innovation, and adaptability to maintain financial 
performance and industry competitiveness. 
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Appendix A: Progress on Mandate Letter Priorities 
The following is a summary of progress made on priorities as stated in the 2021/22 and 2023 
Mandate Letters from the Minister Responsible. 

2021/22 Mandate Letter Priority Status as of March 31, 2025 

Continue to address concerns raised around 
illicit behaviour in BCLC’s gambling facilities 
and continue to prioritize taking action to 
eradicate money laundering efforts and other 
illicit behaviours in casinos. 

Ongoing:  

• Implemented enhanced 
identification checks at the 
entrance of casinos and CGCs, 
which checks if individuals have 
been barred from entering. 

• Supporting government to address 
the recommendations of the Cullen 
Commission. 

• Strong partnership with law 
enforcement partners, service 
providers and GPEB to continually 
improve security controls. 

• Supporting government on 
provisions of the new Gaming 
Control Act and regulations related 
to source of funds declarations and 
prevention of unlawful activity. 

• Continued to ban patrons who pose 
a public safety or a money 
laundering risk, with currently over 
800 individuals banned from B.C. 
casinos, and provide support to 
GPEB for its patron ban program. 

Completed: 

• Worked with service providers to 
install the Everi Compliance 
platform, a financial transaction 
monitoring system, to meet current 
and future regulatory requirements 
at all casinos and CGCs across the 
province.   
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2021/22 Mandate Letter Priority Status as of March 31, 2025 

Continue to seek opportunities to strengthen 
BCLC’s ability to identify and respond to early 
warning signs of high-risk gambling to 
mitigate the impacts of gambling products 
and behaviours. This includes implementation 
of initiatives to support an enterprise view of 
players in line with BCLC’s strategy to continue 
offering responsible, player-centric gambling. 

Ongoing: 

• Completed first year of new five-
year Player Health Strategy that will 
focus on better understanding 
players, personalizing their 
experiences and further fostering a 
player health culture throughout 
the business. 

• Resumed RG Check accreditation. 

Completed 

• Completed High-Risk Indicators 
pilot and explored risk identification 
using evidence-based indicators to 
nudge players towards safer play 
for both online casino and sports 
play. 

• Completed a pilot of an outcomes 
framework to better understand 
the impacts of BCLC’s programming 
and player health approaches for 
players. 

• Made enhancements to the 
GameSense Advisor program that 
include in-facility, chat function, and 
phone support for player health 
access and resources. 

• Made key improvements to 
guidelines and training for service 
provider staff to support players 
and provide intervention through 
GameSense. 

• A gambling and financial literacy 
tool was made available to players 
in brick-and-mortar facilities and 
through PlayNow. 

https://www.responsiblegambling.org/for-industry/rg-check-accreditation/about-rg-check/
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2021/22 Mandate Letter Priority Status as of March 31, 2025 

Continue to proactively and responsively share 
information with the Deputy Minister, Anti-
Money Laundering Deputy Ministers’ 
Committee (AML DMC), Anti-Money 
Laundering Secretariat (AML Secretariat), and 
the regulator that assists the government in 
meeting its responsibilities for the overall 
integrity of gambling and providing advice on 
broad policy, standards and regulatory issues. 

Ongoing:  

• Weekly meetings held to discuss 
suspicious activity and transactions as 
well as tactical information at the 
Gaming Integrity Group (BCLC, GPEB, 
Joint Illegal Gaming Investigation 
Team). 

• Continual escalation of systemic issues 
to the AML Risk Committee (BCLC and 
GPEB) to inform of BCLC policy changes 
(e.g., limiting cash from a credit card 
cash advance). 

• AML DMC and AML Secretariat are 
notified of significant initiatives 
(through BCLC and GPEB Executive or 
via briefing note), such as Everi 
Compliance AML solution deployment. 

• As a member of the Canadian Lottery 
Coalition, BCLC proactively shares 
information with GPEB and CAS 
regarding the ongoing proliferation of 
illegal iGaming websites and efforts to 
have the laws prohibiting illegal 
gambling enforced. 

Completed: 

• Worked with FINTRAC on the 
development of a special bulletin on 
illegal gambling. 

Sustain operations while collaborating with 
casino service providers and ensuring 
alignment with the provincial government’s 
COVID-19 recovery efforts. 

Completed:  

• Casinos and CGCs across the province 
are open and operating at pre-
pandemic levels. 

• All provincewide COVID-19 restrictions 
were lifted in April 2022. 
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2021/22 Mandate Letter Priority Status as of March 31, 2025 

As appropriate, and in alignment with 
responsible gambling practices, explore 
options to increase and/or enhance 
PlayNow.com’s online gambling offerings to 
increase revenue from this product stream. 

Ongoing: 

• Developing further web and app 
enhancements. 

• Took steps towards upgrading to a 
new and more scalable online casino 
platform, including issuing a request 
for proposal for a new platform.   

Completed: 

• Increased the number of games on 
PlayNow from approximately 560 to 
over 700. 

• Introduced a new PlayNow Sports app.  

• Added Live Casino games to the Lotto 
App.  

• Launched an enhanced registration 
process making it easier for players to 
register. 

• PlayNow is now available in three 
provinces: British Columbia, Manitoba 
and Saskatchewan. 

• Sports betting on PlayNow launched 
with the single-events betting in 
August 2021. 

2023 Mandate Letter Priority Status as of March 31, 2025 

Work with government to operationalize the 
new Gaming Control Act. 

Ongoing: 

• Participating in consultations on the 
regulations and working with CAS 
and GPEB to prepare to 
operationalize the new Gaming 
Control Act. 
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Appendix B: Subsidiaries and Operating Segments  

Active Subsidiaries 
B.C. Lottotech International Inc. 

The consolidated financial statements of BCLC include B.C. Lottotech International Inc. 
(Lottotech), a wholly owned subsidiary of BCLC. The primary purpose of Lottotech is to 
optimize sales taxes through the purchase of capital assets for leasing to BCLC. The main 
operating activities are revenue from the lease of assets to BCLC and the depreciation 
associated with capital acquisitions.  

The management and oversight of Lottotech is consolidated within BCLC operations and the 
Board reviews and approves capital purchases through BCLC’s annual business planning and 
budget process.  

Financial Summary 

($m)¹ 
2023/24 
Actual 

2024/25 
Budget 

2024/25 
Actual 

Revenues  66   84   73  
Expenses  66   84   74  
Net Gain (Loss)  —   —

  
 (1) 

1 Financial information was prepared based on an accrual basis. 

Discussion of Variance  

Lottotech revenues and expenses were higher than the previous year, driven by the launch of 
the lottery terminal replacement project in May and increased current year expenditures on 
property and equipment. The higher volume of deployed gaming equipment resulted in 
greater depreciation. Revenues and expenses remained below budget due to lower-than-
expected overall capital spending. 

Operating Segments 
BCLC’s operating segments consist of casino and community gaming, lottery and iGaming. 
BCLC’s casino and community gaming operations are results from land-based gambling 
facilities offering slots, tables and bingo games. Lottery operations are results from brick-and-
mortar retail sales of lottery draw-based games, lottery instant tickets and sports betting. 
iGaming operations are results of BCLC’s website PlayNow, which extends BCLC’s product 
offerings for play online. Operating costs for any departments that are not directly dedicated 
to supporting one of these areas of operations are allocated proportionally across these areas 
based on their revenues.  
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Casino and Community Gaming Operations 

Financial Summary 

($m)¹ 
2023/24 
Actual 

2024/25 
Budget 

2024/25 
Actual 

2024/25 
Variance² 

Total Revenue  1,869   1,886   1,823   (63) 
Expenses     
Direct Costs  668   695   670   25 

  Gaming Support Costs  30   36   34   2  
Operating Costs  132   163   157   6  
Amortization & Other  59   66   63   3  
Total Expenses  889   960   924   36  
Net Income Before Taxes   980  926  899 (27) 
Indirect Tax  45   52   47   5  
Net Income  935   874   852   (22) 

1 Financial information was prepared based on current IFRS Accounting Standards. 
2 Favourable (unfavourable) 2024/25 Actual vs 2024/25 Budget. 

 
Lottery Operations 

Financial Summary 

($m)¹ 
2023/24 
Actual 

2024/25 
Budget 

2024/25 
Actual 

2024/25 
Variance² 

Total Revenue  560   529   526   (3) 
Expenses     
Direct Costs  113   113   112   1  
Gaming Support Costs  22   26   26   —  
Operating Costs  66   74   72   2  
Amortization & Other  12   21   20   1  
Total Expenses  213   234   230   4  
Net Income Before Taxes  347   295   296   1  
Indirect Tax  16   17   16   1  
Net Income  331   278   280   2  

1 Financial information was prepared based on current IFRS Accounting Standards. 
2 Favourable (unfavourable) 2024/25 Actual vs 2024/25 Budget. 
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iGaming Operations 

Financial Summary 

($m)¹ 
2023/24 
Actual 

2024/25 
Budget 

2024/25 
Actual 

2024/25 
Variance² 

Total Revenue  442   476   454   (22) 
Expenses     
Direct Costs  80   95   89   6  
Gaming Support Costs  12   16   13   3  
Operating Costs  54   62   60   2  
Amortization & Other  4   5   4   1  
Total Expenses  150   178   166   12  
Net Income Before Taxes  292   298   288   (10) 
Indirect Tax  10   14   12   2  
Net Income  282   284   276   (8) 

1 Financial information was prepared based on current IFRS Accounting Standards. 
2 Favourable (unfavourable) 2024/25 Actual vs 2024/25 Budget. 
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The consolidated financial statements of BCLC have been prepared by management in accordance with 
IFRS Accounting Standards.

The consolidated financial statements present fairly the consolidated financial position of BCLC as at 
March 31, 2025, and the results of its consolidated financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended.

Management is responsible for the integrity of the consolidated financial statements and has established 
systems of internal control to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are 
properly authorized and financial records are properly maintained to facilitate the preparation of reliable 
financial information in a timely manner.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of our financial 
reporting responsibilities and has approved the consolidated financial statements and other financial 
information included in this annual report and service plan.

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities. The committee 
reviews and recommends approval of the consolidated financial statements. It meets periodically with 
management, and internal and external auditors concerning internal controls and all other matters 
relating to our financial reporting.

KPMG LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, have performed an independent audit of BCLC and 
expressed an unqualified opinion on the consolidated financial statements of BCLC. 

Alan Kerr Pat Davis
CFO & Vice-President President & CEO
Finance and Corporate Services

Statement of Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
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To the Board of Directors of and Minister Responsible for British Columbia Lottery Corporation

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of British Columbia Lottery Corporation (the 
Entity), which comprise:

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2025

• the consolidated statement of net income and comprehensive income for the year then ended

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material accounting
policy information

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Entity as at March 31, 2025, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditor’s report.

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity
to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
review of the audit work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Kamloops, Canada
June 26, 2025

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
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2025 2024
ASSETS

Cash (note 6) $ 46,716 $ 44,408 
Accounts receivable (note 7)  48,636  89,657 
Prepaid and deferred expenses  24,208  21,893 
Inventories (note 8)  10,731  10,152 
Commission advances (note 9)  —  5,140 
Gaming cash floats (note 10)  —  8,884 

Current assets  130,291  180,134 
Prepaid and deferred expenses  3,109  3,468 
Right-of-use assets (note 11)  54,489  55,323 
Property and equipment (note 12)  324,354  306,504 
Intangible assets (note 13)  38,480  33,787 
Employee benefits (note 14)  109,795  82,746 

Non-current assets  530,227  481,828 
Total assets $ 660,518 $ 661,962 

 

BRITISH COLUMBIA LOTTERY CORPORATION
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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2025 2024
LIABILITIES

Prizes payable (note 15) $ 32,678 $ 38,017 
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities (note 16) 148,185 116,442 
Short-term financing (note 17) 130,229 110,297 
Deferred revenue (note 18) 3,987 24,805 
Unsettled wagers (note 19) 5,774 6,929 
Lease liabilities (note 11) 5,389 5,122 
Due to the Government of British Columbia (note 20) 136,738 190,104 

Current liabilities 462,980 491,716 
Lease liabilities (note 11) 53,131 53,580 
Provisions (note 21) 2,926 3,173 
Employee benefits (note 14) 55,544 49,772 

Non-current liabilities 111,601 106,525 
Total liabilities 574,581 598,241 

EQUITY
Accumulated deficit (note 22) (17,850) (17,850) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 103,787 81,571 

Total equity 85,937 63,721 
Total liabilities and equity $ 660,518 $ 661,962 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
Commitments and contingencies are outlined in notes 11, 12 and 26.

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors:

Greg Moore 
Chair, Board of Directors 

Christine Dacre 
Chair, Audit Committee

BRITISH COLUMBIA LOTTERY CORPORATION
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position continued
At March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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2025 2024
Revenue (note 23) $ 2,803,327 $ 2,871,296 
Expenses

Commissions and fees  737,955  744,595 
Employee costs  193,542  173,525 
Gaming equipment leases and licenses  117,863  102,627 
Systems, maintenance, and ticket distribution  83,357  71,305 
Amortization and depreciation (notes 11, 12 and 13)  81,092  74,922 
Advertising, marketing, and promotions  42,002  40,253 
Professional fees and services  27,775  15,901 
Ticket printing  15,950  15,234 
Cost of premises  7,416  6,942 
Net financing costs (note 24)  2,466  2,064 

Loss on disposal of property and equipment  912  799 
Other  10,273  4,209 

 1,320,603  1,252,376 
Income from operations before the undernoted  1,482,724  1,618,920 
Indirect tax expense (note 28)  75,166  70,529 
Net income  1,407,558  1,548,391 
Other comprehensive (loss) income

Item that will never be reclassified to net income:
Net defined benefit plan actuarial gain (loss) (note 14)  22,216  (7,079) 

Total comprehensive income $ 1,429,774 $ 1,541,312 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

BRITISH COLUMBIA LOTTERY CORPORATION
Consolidated Statement of Net Income and Comprehensive Income
For the year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income Total Equity

Balance, April 1, 2023 $ (17,850) $ 88,650 $ 70,800 
Net income  1,548,391  —  1,548,391 
Net defined benefit plan actuarial loss (note 14)  —  (7,079)  (7,079) 
Total comprehensive income  1,548,391  (7,079)  1,541,312 

Payments to the Government of Canada on behalf of 
the Government of British Columbia (note 25)  (12,403)  —  (12,403) 

Distributions to the Government of British Columbia 
(note 20)  (1,535,988)  —  (1,535,988) 

Balance, March 31, 2024 $ (17,850) $ 81,571 $ 63,721 
Net income  1,407,558  —  1,407,558 
Net defined benefit plan actuarial gain (note 14)  —  22,216  22,216 
Total comprehensive income  1,407,558  22,216  1,429,774 

Payments to the Government of Canada on behalf of 
the Government of British Columbia (note 25)  (12,731)  —  (12,731) 

Distributions to the Government of British Columbia 
(note 20)  (1,394,827)  —  (1,394,827) 

Balance, March 31, 2025 $ (17,850) $ 103,787 $ 85,937 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

BRITISH COLUMBIA LOTTERY CORPORATION
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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2025 2024
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 1,407,558 $ 1,548,391 
Items not involving cash:

Depreciation (notes 11 and 12)  74,215  66,564 
Amortization (note 13)  6,877  8,358 

Loss on disposal of property and equipment  912  799 

Net benefit plan expense (note 14)  16,938  13,057 
Net financing costs (note 24)  2,466  2,064 

 1,508,966  1,639,233 
Changes in:

Accounts receivable  40,690  (24,948) 
Prepaid and deferred expenses  (1,956)  896 
Inventories  (579)  (1,236) 
Commission advances  5,140  30,051 
Gaming cash floats  8,884  38,927 
Employee benefits  (15,999)  (15,248) 
Prizes payable  (5,339)  4,428 
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities  20,653  2,951 
Deferred revenue  (20,818)  1,596 
Unsettled wagers  (1,155)  (181) 
Provisions  (247)  (315) 

Interest received  3,809  4,351 
Net cash from operating activities  1,542,049  1,680,505 
Cash flows from financing activities:

Short-term financing (note 17)  20,039  (29,913) 
Interest paid (notes 11 and 17)  (6,703)  (9,561) 
Payments on lease liabilities (note 11)  (5,936)  (6,298) 

Payments to the Government of Canada on behalf of the 
Government of British Columbia (note 25)  (12,731)  (12,403) 

Distributions paid to the Government of British Columbia (note 20)  (1,448,193)  (1,523,118) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (1,453,524)  (1,581,293) 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Additions to property and equipment  (81,560)  (77,892) 
Additions to intangible assets  (4,892)  (8,471) 
Net proceeds on disposal of property and equipment  235  666 

Net cash used in investing activities  (86,217)  (85,697) 
Net increase in cash  2,308  13,515 
Cash, beginning of year  44,408  30,893 
Cash, end of year (note 6) $ 46,716 $ 44,408 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

BRITISH COLUMBIA LOTTERY CORPORATION
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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1 Corporate information

British Columbia Lottery Corporation (BCLC or the Corporation) is a crown corporation of British Columbia 
(B.C.) incorporated under the Company Act (B.C.) on October 25, 1984 and continued under the Gaming 
Control Act (B.C.). The Government of British Columbia has delegated BCLC the responsibility to develop, 
undertake, organize, conduct, manage and operate provincial gaming on behalf of the government. 
Gaming activities include lottery, casino, bingo, and internet gaming (iGaming).

BCLC is also the B.C. regional marketing organization for national lottery games, which are collective 
undertakings by the provinces of Canada acting through the Interprovincial Lottery Corporation (ILC).

The address of BCLC’s registered office is 74 West Seymour Street, Kamloops, B.C., Canada.

As an agent of the crown, BCLC is not subject to federal or provincial corporate income taxes.

These consolidated financial statements (hereinafter referred to as the ‘financial statements’) include B.C. 
Lottotech International Inc., a wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary of BCLC.

These financial statements were authorized for issue by BCLC’s Board of Directors (the Board) on June 26, 
2025.

2 Basis of preparation

(a) Basis of accounting
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS).

(b) Basis of measurement
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for unsettled wagers and 
employee benefit plan assets, which are measured at fair value as explained in note 3(b) and note 3(c) 
respectively.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation’s functional 
currency. All financial information has been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars.

BRITISH COLUMBIA LOTTERY CORPORATION
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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(d) Use of judgments and estimates
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to use judgment in applying 
accounting policies and to make estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the accounting 
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, and expenses. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

i. Judgments

Information about judgments made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant 
effects on the amounts recognized in the financial statements includes:

– the determination of the presence of control, as defined under IFRS for the basis of consolidation, 
over gaming facility service providers and lottery retailers (note 3(a));

– whether the Corporation is reasonably certain to exercise extension options under lease 
agreements (note 3(d)).

ii. Estimates

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties at the reporting date that have a 
significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next fiscal year includes:

– key actuarial assumptions used in the measurement of defined benefit obligations for the 
Corporation’s pension and post-retirement benefit plans (note 14(e)(i));

– the valuation of private equity and infrastructure investments in the measurement of plan assets 
for the Corporation’s pension plan (note 14(d)). 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are consistent with the 
Corporation's risk management commitments where appropriate. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized prospectively.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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3 Material accounting policies

The Corporation and its subsidiary have consistently applied the following accounting policies to all 
periods presented in these financial statements:

(a) Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Corporation. Control exists when the Corporation is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with an entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on 
consolidation. The Corporation does not control gaming facility service providers or lottery retailers and 
therefore these financial statements do not include the financial results of those entities.

(b) Financial instruments

Financial instrument Classification
Initial 

measurement
Subsequent 

measurement

Financial assets
Cash AC1 FV2 AC1

Accounts receivable AC1 TP3 AC1

Commission advances AC1 FV2 AC1

Gaming cash floats AC1 FV2 AC1

Financial liabilities
Prizes payable AC1 FV2 AC1

Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities AC1 FV2 AC1

Short-term financing AC1 FV2 AC1

Unsettled wagers FVPL4 FV2 FVPL4

Lease liabilities AC1 FV2 AC1

Due to the Government of British Columbia AC1 FV2 AC1

1 For accounting recognition and measurement purposes, classified as amortized cost (AC). Financial assets and financial liabilities 
are subsequently measured using the effective interest method, less any allowances for expected losses. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset, or the amortized cost of the financial liability.

2 For initial recognition purposes, measured at fair value plus or minus transaction costs (FV). Financial assets are initially measured 
at the present value of future cash flows under the contractual terms plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Financial 
liabilities are initially measured at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs.

3 For initial recognition purposes, measured at transaction price (TP).
4 For accounting recognition and measurement purposes, classified as fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

i. Financial assets

Financial assets are recognized initially on the trade dates, which is when the Corporation becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. Financial assets measured at amortized cost 
are those held in order to collect contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses, and impairment are recognized in profit or loss.

The Corporation derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Gains or 
losses on derecognition are recognized in profit or loss.

ii. Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognized initially on the trade dates, which are the dates the Corporation 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Net gains and losses, including any interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses, are 
recognized in profit or loss.

The Corporation derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations expire, are 
discharged, or are cancelled. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the 
carrying amount and the consideration paid is recognized in profit or loss.

iii. Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when the Corporation has a current, legally enforceable right to offset the amounts 
and intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

(c) Employee benefits
Defined benefit plans

The Corporation’s obligation in respect of defined benefit plans, as outlined in note 14, is calculated 
separately for each plan by estimating the amount of the benefit, payable in the future, that employees 
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is then discounted to 
determine its present value. The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is performed annually by a 
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

The fair value of any plan assets is deducted from the obligation to determine the net defined benefit 
liability (asset). When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Corporation, the recognized asset 
is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the 
plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of future economic 
benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements.

Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset), which are comprised of actuarial gains and 
losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest), and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding 
interest), are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. BCLC determines the net interest 
expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying a discount rate.  
This discount rate aligns with the one used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the start of the 
annual period, factoring in the then-net defined benefit liability (asset) and considering any changes in 
the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit 
payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized in 
profit or loss as employee costs.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting gain or loss with 
respect to a change in benefits that relates to past service, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is 
recognized immediately in profit or loss as employee costs. The Corporation recognizes gains or losses 
on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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(d) Leases
At inception of a contract, the Corporation determines whether the contract is, or contains a lease. A 
contract is, or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for 
a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

The Corporation has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases 
with terms of less than 12 months. The Corporation recognizes the payments associated with these 
leases as an expense, on a straight-line basis, over the lease term.

i. Right-of-use asset

The Corporation recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease 
liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial 
direct costs incurred and any estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to 
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

A right-of-use asset is depreciated from the commencement date to the end of the lease term, which 
includes the initial lease term and any optional renewal period if the Corporation is reasonably certain 
to exercise an option, using the straight-line method. A right-of-use asset will be reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for the remeasurement of the lease liability.

ii. Lease liability

A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Corporation’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Corporation uses its 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. The Corporation determines its incremental 
borrowing rate on a lease-by-lease basis by obtaining Government of Canada bond rates that 
consider both the term of the lease and the liquidity of lease payments.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

– fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

– variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate as at the commencement date; and

– lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Corporation is reasonably certain to exercise 
an extension option.

Variable lease payments based on revenues or usage are recognized in profit or loss in the period in 
which the expenses are incurred.

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an applicable index or rate, 
if the Corporation changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or 
termination option, or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying value of 
the right-of-use asset; or if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero, 
the adjustment is recorded in profit or loss.

The Corporation has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease components within a 
contract and accounts for these as a single lease component.

(e) Property and equipment
i. Recognition and measurement

The Corporation’s property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and bringing 
the asset to the location and condition for its intended use. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a 
suitable condition for their intended use. Borrowing costs related to the construction of qualifying 
assets are capitalized.

When major components of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items of property and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is recognized in profit or loss.

ii. Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Corporation.

iii. Depreciation

Land and assets under construction are not depreciated. When property and equipment are available 
for use, they are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. Depreciation is 
based on cost less estimated residual value and based on the following estimated useful lives:

Asset Rate
Corporate facilities and equipment
Building 5 to 20 years
Equipment 2 to 15 years
Leasehold improvements 3 to 30 years

Lottery gaming
Equipment 3 to 10 years
Retail kiosks 2 to 10 years

Casino and community gaming
Equipment 2 to 8 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives, and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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(f) Intangible assets
Expenditures incurred in the development or acquisition of computer software products or systems that 
will contribute to future economic benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are 
capitalized as intangible assets. Other development costs are recognized as an expense as incurred.

Development expenditures are capitalized only if the expenditures can be measured reliably, the product 
or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the 
Corporation intends to, and has sufficient resources to, complete development and to use or sell the 
asset.

The cost of computer software and systems that are acquired by the Corporation includes the purchase 
price and any expenditures directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. Borrowing 
costs related to the development of qualifying assets are capitalized.

Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment 
losses.

Assets under development are not amortized. When intangible assets are available for use they are 
amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives (2 to 10 years). Amortization 
methods, useful lives, and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate.

(g) Impairment
i. Financial assets

Financial assets not classified at fair value through profit or loss are assessed under an expected 
credit loss model, which requires the recognition of an allowance for expected losses upon 
recognition of the asset. The Corporation measures loss allowances at an amount equal to the 
lifetime expected credit losses, which are the losses that result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. 

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Expected credit losses are 
based on the difference between the cash flows due to the Corporation in accordance with the 
contract and the cash flows that the Corporation expects to receive, discounted at the effective 
interest rate of the financial asset. Losses are recognized in profit or loss and are deducted from the 
gross carrying amount of the assets. If the amount of the credit loss subsequently decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the expected credit loss was 
recognized, then the previously recognized credit loss is reversed through profit or loss.

When estimating expected credit losses and determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset 
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Corporation considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Corporation’s historical 
experience and informed credit assessment, which includes forward-looking information. The 
Corporation assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more 
than 30 days past due.

At each reporting date, the Corporation assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost 
are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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The Corporation considers expected credit risk for these assets at both an individual asset and a 
collective level. All individually significant assets are assessed for expected credit losses. Assets that 
are not individually significant are assessed collectively for expected credit losses by grouping 
together assets with similar risk characteristics.

In the statement of financial position, loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost 
are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

ii. Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets, other than inventories and employee benefit plan 
assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows (cash generating units). An impairment loss is recognized for the 
amount by which the asset’s or cash generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount.

The recoverable amount is the greater of an asset’s or cash generating unit’s fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their 
present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit. Impairment losses are recognized in 
income and are reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, if no 
impairment loss had been recognized.

(h) Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized in profit or loss.

(i) Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Gaming revenue is 
earned through various distribution channels as either an Administered or Wagered game. Gaming 
revenue is recognized net of prizes as outlined below.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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i. Administered games

In transactions in which the Corporation administers a game amongst players (“Administered 
Games”), the Corporation recognizes the portion of the wagers retained, and not distributed as 
prizes, as revenue from operating the game.

Product Channel Revenue recognition policy

Lottery draw-based games LR1 and PN2 Revenue is recognized at the date of the draw. Receipts for 
lottery tickets sold before March 31 for draws held subsequent 
to that date are recorded as deferred revenue (note 18) with a 
financial liability recorded for the portion to be paid as prizes.

Lottery instant tickets LR1 Revenue is recognized at the point of sale to a player. Instant 
ticket prizes are recorded as a financial liability at the expected 
prize percentage concurrently with the recognition of 
revenue.

Sports betting LR1 and PN2 Revenue is recognized in the period in which the bets settle. 
Receipts for bets that are received before March 31 for events 
that occur subsequent to that date are recorded as deferred 
revenue with a financial liability recorded for the portion to be 
paid as prizes.

Bingo games GF3 and PN2 Revenue is recognized in the same period in which the games 
are played.

1 Revenue is generated through contracted lottery retailers (LR).
2 Revenue is generated online at PlayNow.com (PN).
3 Revenue is generated through contracted gaming facility service providers (GF).

ii. Wagered games

In transactions in which the Corporation and players are wagering against a specific outcome of an 
event (“Wagered Games”), the Corporation is exposed to gains or losses, which are recognized in 
revenue.

Product Channel Revenue recognition policy

Slot and table games GF3 and PN2 Revenue is recognized, net of financial liabilities under 
customer loyalty programs, in the same period in which the 
games are played.

Lottery draw-based games LR1 and PN2 Revenue is recognized at the date of the draw. Receipts for 
lottery tickets sold before March 31 for draws held subsequent 
to that date are recorded as unsettled wagers (note 19).

Sports betting LR1 and PN2 Revenue is recognized in the period in which the bets settle. 
Receipts for bets that are received before March 31 for events 
that occur subsequent to that date are recorded as unsettled 
wagers.

1 Revenue is generated through contracted lottery retailers (LR).
2 Revenue is generated online at PlayNow.com (PN).
3 Revenue is generated through contracted gaming facility service providers (GF).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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In Administered Games where the Corporation earns a variable commission, the variable commission 
exposes the Corporation to a gain or loss depending on the actual amount of the payout to the player 
versus the expected prize percentage, which is initially accounted for as a financial liability.

Gains on unclaimed prizes arising from regional lottery games are recognized as revenue when they 
expire. Unclaimed prizes arising from national lottery games are administered by ILC and, accordingly, 
are not recognized by the Corporation.

Liabilities under customer loyalty programs are reported as unsettled wagers due to their potential to be 
discharged through the redemption of free play on Wagered Games.

iii. Non-gaming revenue

Under IFRS 15, revenue earned from the provision of gaming solutions to third parties is recognized 
in the period it is earned.

(j) Commissions
Commissions paid to lottery retailers are based on revenue generated and prize payments to players, in 
accordance with underlying lottery retailer agreements. BCLC recognizes commission expenses at the 
point of sale to a player for revenue-based commissions and at the point of ticket validation for prize 
payment-based commissions.

Commissions paid to gaming facility service providers, including commissions for facility investment, are 
based on revenue generated in accordance with underlying operational services agreements. BCLC 
recognizes commission expenses in the same period in which the revenues are generated. 

4 Accounting standards issued but not yet effective

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements is effective for reporting periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2027. The Corporation plans to adopt this standard for its fiscal year ending March 
31, 2028.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (IFRS 18)
IFRS 18, published in April 2024, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements. The new standard introduces the following key new requirements:

– Entities are required to classify all income and expenses into five categories in the statement of 
profit or loss, namely the operating, investing, financing, discontinued operations and income tax 
categories. Entities are also required to present a newly-defined operating profit subtotal. Entities' 
net profit will not change.

– Management-defined performance measures (MPMs) are disclosed in a single note in the 
financial statements.

– Enhanced guidance is provided on how to group information in the financial statements.

In addition, all entities are required to use the operating profit subtotal as the starting point for the 
statement of cash flows when presenting operating cash flows under the indirect method.

The Corporation is in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard, particularly with respect to 
the structure of the Corporation’s statement of profit or loss, the statement of cash flows and the 
additional disclosures required for MPMs. The Corporation is also assessing the impact on how 
information is grouped in the financial statements, including for items currently labelled as 'other'. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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5 Financial risk management and fair value

The Corporation has exposure to the following financial risks from its use of financial instruments: credit 
risk, liquidity risk, and market risk.

This note presents information on how the Corporation manages those financial risks.

Credit Liquidity Market
Cash x
Accounts receivable x
Commission advances x
Gaming cash floats x
Prizes payable x
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities x
Short-term financing x x
Unsettled wagers x
Lease liabilities x
Due to the Government of British Columbia x

Risks

(a) Risk management
The Corporation’s Board of Directors has the responsibility to manage the affairs of the Corporation.

The Board’s role includes oversight of the Corporation’s enterprise risk management program, and the 
integrity of the Corporation’s internal control and management systems. The Board, with the support of 
its Strategy Committee, monitors the Corporation’s risk tolerance and risk capacity levels and considers 
strategic risks as part of the annual strategic planning process. The Board, with support of the Audit 
Committee, provides oversight of the effectiveness of the Corporation’s systems of internal control over 
financial information.

The Corporation’s enterprise risk management services (ERMS) department supports the assessment, 
monitoring and reporting of strategic and operational risks that may impact the ability of the Corporation 
to deliver on its objectives. The ERMS department reports quarterly on its activities and on the 
Corporation’s risk profile for review by management and the Strategy Committee of the Board of 
Directors. The Director of ERMS has a direct reporting relationship to the Chair of the Strategy 
Committee. 

The Corporation’s internal audit department provides independent assurance on the effectiveness of 
BCLC's risk management processes and internal controls. The department advises management on risk 
mitigation strategies and improvements to enhance the overall control environment. The Director of 
internal audit has a direct reporting relationship to the Chair of the Audit Committee.

The recent announcements by the U.S. government to levy tariffs on Canadian goods and the potential 
retaliatory response from the Canadian government has created considerable economic uncertainty. The 
Corporation is proactively assessing the direct and indirect impacts to its business of such measures and 
is considering mitigation strategies as this situation develops.
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(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Corporation will suffer a financial loss due to a third party failing to meet its 
contractual obligations to the Corporation. The following table summarizes the Corporation’s credit risk 
by financial asset:

Cash Cash is held with a bank that has high credit rating and minimal market risk. As such, 
management does not expect the bank to fail to meet its obligations. 

Accounts receivable Accounts receivable relates to credit provided to lottery retailers and gaming facility service 
providers. Normal credit terms for accounts receivable are payment within 30 days or less. 
As at March 31, 2025 and 2024, there were no significant invoiced accounts receivable 
outstanding for more than 30 days.

Commission 
advances

Commission advances resulted from the Corporation providing eligible gaming facility 
service providers with the option to receive an advance of future commissions to support 
facility reopening after the extended period of closure due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The 
balance as of March 31, 2024 has been fully collected in the current fiscal year.

Gaming cash floats Gaming cash floats were temporarily provided to certain gaming facility service providers 
under amendments to operational services agreements. The balance as of March 31, 2024 
has been fully collected in the current fiscal year. 

Financial asset Credit risk

The Corporation’s net exposure to credit risk for cash, accounts receivable, commission advances and 
gaming cash floats at the reporting date is represented by the carrying amounts less any irrevocable 
standby letters of credit or security deposits. These amounts are listed as follows:

2025 2024
Maximum exposure $ 95,352 $ 148,089 
Collateral  (3,800)  (4,131) 
Net exposure $ 91,552 $ 143,958 

Expected credit losses

Accounts receivable are net of expected credit losses, which consist of a specific allowance estimated 
based on assessment of the current economic environment and past experience.

The Corporation’s exposure to credit losses is primarily due to amounts owing from lottery retailers and 
gaming facility service providers.

i. Lottery retailers

The Corporation has arrangements with approximately 3,400 (2024: 3,400) lottery retailers but is not 
materially exposed to any individual lottery retailer. The objectives of the Corporation's lottery retailer 
credit policies are to provide retailers with adequate time to sell lottery products before payment is 
required, while not exposing the Corporation to unacceptable risks. Credit assessments are 
completed for new retailers and may also be completed for retailers who have experienced 
insufficient fund occurrences on bank sweeps, or in cases where there are concerns that retailers 
might be experiencing financial difficulties. Security is obtained from lottery retailers who are 
considered to be of high financial risk or from lottery retailers where minimal credit information is 
available. Security may include irrevocable standby letters of credit, security deposits, or personal 
guarantees.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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The Corporation has assessed the expected credit loss for lottery retailers and no credit losses are 
expected as the balances outstanding continue to be short-term in nature and collected through bank 
sweeps without any material losses.

ii. Gaming facility service providers

The Corporation has operating agreements with 14 (2024: 13) gaming facility service providers. The 
Corporation has a concentrated credit risk exposure with its 3 (2024: 3) largest gaming facility service 
providers. Concentrated credit risk exists when the outstanding balance owing from an individual 
gaming facility service provider represents more than 10% of the total owed from all gaming facility 
service providers. As at March 31, 2025, the total balance of financial assets subject to a concentration 
of credit risk was $19,550 (2024: $39,959), which represents 76% (2024: 87%) of the total amount due 
from gaming facility service providers.

At any time, accounts receivable from gaming facility service providers includes balances relating to 
outstanding chips. These balances, which represent the Corporation’s liability to players, are held in 
trust and are not invoiced because they will be relieved through the normal course of operations.

The Corporation monitors gaming facility service providers’ financial health by reviewing their 
revenue levels, cash position and ability to service external debt obligations. The Corporation has not 
experienced any material collection issues related to accounts receivable, commission advances and 
gaming cash floats from gaming facility service providers. The Corporation has considered its 
historical experience and current collection of accounts receivable, commission advances, and 
gaming cash floats in the assessment of credit risk.

At March 31, 2025, an allowance for expected credit losses of nil (2024: nil) has been recognized as no 
material losses are expected. The estimated allowance for impairment loss is reflective of the related 
credit risk.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of accounts receivable, commission 
advances and gaming cash floats during the year was as follows:

2025 2024
Balance at April 1 $ — $ 1,820 
Net remeasurement of loss allowance  —  (1,820) 
Balance at March 31 $ — $ — 
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(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Corporation’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions.

The Corporation manages liquidity risk by forecasting and assessing cash flow requirements on an 
ongoing basis to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet the Corporation’s financial obligations.

To manage cash flow requirements, the Corporation has a short-term financing agreement with the 
Government of British Columbia under its Fiscal Agency Loan program (note 17). Under this agreement, 
the Corporation may borrow up to $250 million. The Government of British Columbia uses reasonable 
efforts to meet the borrowing requirements of the Corporation by securing funds at market rates; 
however, the interest rate on any loan will be determined at the sole discretion of the Government of 
British Columbia. Loans are unsecured and there are no pre-established repayment terms other than the 
requirement that loans must have a short term duration. The terms are set by the Government of British 
Columbia each time a loan is requested under this agreement. To date, the durations of the loans have 
not exceeded 90 days.

The contractual maturities of all financial liabilities except lease liabilities as at March 31, 2025 and 2024 
are 90 days or less. The contractual maturities of the Corporation’s lease liabilities are included in note 11.

The Corporation also has an unused $10 million unsecured demand operating credit facility with a 
Canadian commercial bank. Interest is payable at the bank’s commercial prime lending rate (2024: prime 
rate).

(d) Market risk
Market risk, including interest rate risk, is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the fair value 
of, or future cash flows from, a financial instrument. The Corporation is subject to interest rate risk when 
it renews its short-term financing at rates determined by current market conditions.

The Corporation does not account for any fixed-rate financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
and does not utilize interest rate swaps. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would 
not affect income.

(e) Fair values
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities not classified as fair value through profit 
or loss approximate their fair values at the reporting date. This is due to the relatively short periods to 
maturity of these items or because they are due on demand.
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6 Cash

2025 2024
Cash¹ $ 15,401 $ 16,011 
Funds held for player accounts  27,662  24,642 
Funds held for security deposits  3,653  3,755 

$ 46,716 $ 44,408 
1 The description ‘cash and cash equivalents’ used in the prior year has been updated to ‘cash’ as the Corporation does not hold any
  cash equivalents.

Funds held for player accounts represent funds provided to the Corporation through player accounts on 
PlayNow.com. These amounts are deposited into a separate bank account and are internally restricted by 
the Corporation exclusively for funding the player accounts liability. A corresponding player accounts 
liability in the amount of $27,662 (2024: $24,642) is included in accounts payable, accrued and other 
liabilities (note 16).

Funds held for security deposits include security deposit amounts provided by lottery retailers and 
gaming facility service providers to the Corporation. These funds are deposited into a separate bank 
account. All security deposit amounts are internally restricted by the Corporation exclusively for funding 
the security deposit liability. A corresponding security deposit liability in the amount of $3,653 (2024: 
$3,755) is included in accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities (note 16).

Select gaming facility service providers are responsible for holding and accounting for player funds held 
in Patron Gaming Accounts (gaming accounts). These gaming accounts are administered in accordance 
with the Corporation’s casino and community gaming centre standards, policies and procedures, as well 
as in accordance with the regulations of Gaming Policy and Enforcement Branch (GPEB). No amounts are 
recorded in the Corporation’s financial statements for these gaming accounts. The gaming facility service 
providers are legally liable for the player funds held in these accounts.
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7 Accounts receivable

As at March 31, 2025

Gross amounts
Amounts offset in 
the statement of 

financial position1

Net amounts 
presented in the 

statement of 
financial position

Gaming facility service providers $ 41,961 $ (16,283) $ 25,678 
Lottery retailers  33,208  (17,118)  16,090 
Due from Interprovincial Lottery Corporation  2,498  (317)  2,181 
Other  9,003  (4,316)  4,687 

$ 86,670 $ (38,034) $ 48,636 

As at March 31, 2024
Gaming facility service providers $ 47,177 $ (15,338) $ 31,839 
Lottery retailers  54,341  (17,976)  36,365 
Due from Interprovincial Lottery Corporation  17,010  (890)  16,120 
Other  9,777  (4,444)  5,333 

$ 128,305 $ (38,648) $ 89,657 
1 Impacts of offsetting to liabilities are disclosed in note 16.  

The Corporation has an enforceable right to offset certain liabilities payable with accounts receivable and 
intends to settle the amounts on a net basis.

The accounts receivable balance includes revenue generated from both Administered Games and 
Wagered Games.

The Corporation’s exposure to credit risk and impairment losses related to accounts receivable is 
disclosed in note 5(b).

8 Inventories

The major components of inventories are as follows:

2025 2024
Lottery instant tickets $ 5,497 $ 3,995 
Consumables and other  3,219  3,573 
Slot machine spare parts  2,015  2,584 

$ 10,731 $ 10,152 

For the year ended March 31, 2025, inventories recognized as an expense amounted to $19,310 (2024: 
$19,348), which includes write-downs of $2,525 (2024: $1,691).
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9 Commission advances

2025 2024
Balance at April 1 $ 5,140 $ 35,191 

Repayments  (5,198)  (32,090) 

Service fees accrued  58  1,321 

Reversal of expected credit losses  718 

Balance at March 31 $ — $ 5,140 

Commission advances are subject to a monthly service fee of 0.5% to be applied on the aggregate 
outstanding amount. Collection of the aggregate amount outstanding began in April 2023 and was 
completed in September 2024.

10 Gaming cash floats

2025 2024
Balance at April 1 $ 8,884 $ 47,811 
Repayments  (9,292)  (40,959) 
Service fees accrued  408  132 
Accretion income  —  1,114 
Reversal of expected credit losses  —  786 
Balance at March 31 $ — $ 8,884 

Gaming cash floats of $49,711 were advanced to gaming facility service providers in fiscal year 2022 with 
$40,959 repaid in fiscal year 2024. The remaining balance was due from gaming facility service providers 
who accepted a revised repayment date of December 31, 2024. Under the amended terms, the remaining 
gaming cash floats were subject to a monthly service fee of 0.5% on the aggregate outstanding amount 
from January 1, 2024 until repayment was made.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

25



11 Leases 

The Corporation leases office and warehouse real estate, lottery retail locations, vehicles and equipment. 
Leases of real estate have lease terms between 8 and 30 years, while lottery retail locations, vehicles, and 
equipment generally have lease terms of 5 years. Real estate and lottery retail location lease agreements 
frequently include extension options, which have been included in the term of the leases after 
consideration of the likelihood of the Corporation exercising the options. Generally, the lease payments 
under the extensions will be negotiated upon exercise of the option.

The Corporation leases casino and community gaming equipment with lease terms between less than 
one year and two years. The Corporation has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities for the leases of less than one year.

The Corporation leases space within the casino and community gaming service provider facilities for 
gaming purposes. Lease payments for the gaming floors are based on gaming revenue and fully variable; 
as such, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have not been recognized and lease payments are 
expensed as incurred.

Information about leases for which the Corporation is a lessee is presented below.

i. Right-of-use assets

Real estate
Lottery retail 

locations
Gaming 

equipment
Fleet vehicles 

and other Total

Balance at April 1, 2023 $ 49,101 $ 7,779 $ 175 $ 321 $ 57,376 
Additions  1,857  2,372  2,561  190  6,980 
Depreciation  (3,208)  (2,887)  (461)  (171)  (6,727) 
Derecognition  —  (17)  (2,275)  (14)  (2,306) 
Balance at March 31, 2024 $ 47,750 $ 7,247 $ — $ 326 $ 55,323 
Additions  —  5,074  —  749  5,823 
Depreciation  (3,091)  (3,248)  —  (249)  (6,588) 
Derecognition  (46)  (15)  —  (8)  (69) 
Balance at March 31, 2025 $ 44,613 $ 9,058 $ — $ 818 $ 54,489 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended March 31, 2025 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 Consolidated Financial Statements   26



ii. Lease liabilities

2025 2024
Balance at April 1 $ 58,702 $ 60,301 
Additions  5,823  6,980 
Interest expense  1,211  1,112 
Derecognized  (69)  (2,306) 
Interest paid  (1,211)  (1,087) 
Principal payments  (5,936)  (6,298) 
Balance at March 31 $ 58,520 $ 58,702 

Lease liabilities are presented on the statement of financial position as follows:

2025 2024
Current $ 5,389 $ 5,122 
Non-current  53,131  53,580 
Balance at March 31 $ 58,520 $ 58,702 

Maturity analysis – undiscounted cash flows 2025 2024
Less than one year $ 6,579 $ 7,386 
One to five years  21,585  20,803 
More than five years  38,528  42,152 
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at March 31 $ 66,692 $ 70,341 

iii. Amounts recognized in profit or loss

2025 2024
Expenses relating to short-term leases $ 21,265 $ 22,587 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  6,588  6,727 
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease 

liabilities1  3,129  3,088 

Interest on lease liabilities  1,211  1,112 

1 These amounts do not include variable lease payments for the use of the gaming floors as they are recorded as part of the 
total commissions paid to gaming facility service providers.
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12 Property and equipment

2025 Land

Corporate 
facilities & 
equipment

Lottery 
gaming

Casino & 
community 

gaming
Assets under 
construction Total

Cost
Balance at April 1, 2024 $ 5,265 $ 134,199 $ 106,792 $ 606,236 $ 69,033 $ 921,525 
Additions  32  4,083  12,427  45,895  24,187  86,624 
Transfers  —  3,143  57,741  3,369  (64,253)  — 
Disposals and retirements  —  (3,607)  (29,626)  (33,961)  —  (67,194) 
Balance at March 31, 2025  5,297  137,818  147,334  621,539  28,967  940,955 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at April 1, 2024  —  114,797  93,038  407,186  —  615,021 
Depreciation for the year  —  6,862  10,580  50,185  —  67,627 
Disposals and retirements  —  (3,598)  (29,613)  (32,836)  —  (66,047) 
Balance at March 31, 2025  —  118,061  74,005  424,535  —  616,601 

Carrying amounts
At March 31, 2025 $ 5,297 $ 19,757 $ 73,329 $ 197,004 $ 28,967 $ 324,354 

2024 Land

Corporate 
facilities & 
equipment

Lottery
gaming

Casino & 
community 

gaming
Assets under 
construction Total

Cost
Balance at April 1, 2023 $ 5,227 $ 132,695 $ 131,770 $ 575,572 $ 74,686 $ 919,950 
Additions  38  1,287  615  46,481  20,656  69,077 
Transfers  —  3,331  2,268  20,709  (26,308)  — 
Disposals and retirements  —  (3,114)  (27,861)  (36,526)  (1)  (67,502) 
Balance at March 31, 2024  5,265  134,199  106,792  606,236  69,033  921,525 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at April 1, 2023  —  111,591  114,672  394,958  —  621,221 
Depreciation for the year  —  6,316  6,183  47,338  —  59,837 
Disposals and retirements  —  (3,110)  (27,817)  (35,110)  —  (66,037) 
Balance at March 31, 2024  —  114,797  93,038  407,186  —  615,021 

Carrying amounts
At March 31, 2024 $ 5,265 $ 19,402 $ 13,754 $ 199,050 $ 69,033 $ 306,504 

As of March 31, 2025, the Corporation is committed to incur capital expenditures relating to property and 
equipment and intangible assets of $15,195 (2024: $7,804). These commitments are expected to be 
settled within the next 12 months.
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13 Intangible assets

The intangible assets balance represents purchased and internally-generated software assets.

2025
Software Assets under 

development Total

Cost
Balance at April 1, 2024 $ 214,132 $ 14,824 $ 228,956 
Acquisitions - separately acquired  6,691  945  7,636 
Acquisitions - internally generated  648  3,286  3,934 
Transfers  12,733  (12,733)  — 
Disposals and retirements  (339)  —  (339) 
Balance at March 31, 2025  233,865  6,322  240,187 

Accumulated amortization
Balance at April 1, 2024  195,169  —  195,169 
Amortization for the year  6,877  —  6,877 
Disposals and retirements  (339)  —  (339) 
Balance at March 31, 2025  201,707  —  201,707 

Carrying amounts at March 31, 2025 $ 32,158 $ 6,322 $ 38,480 

2024
Software Assets under 

development Total

Cost
Balance at April 1, 2023 $ 209,143 $ 11,754 $ 220,897 
Acquisitions - separately acquired  3,012  4,559  7,571 
Acquisitions - internally generated  —  522  522 
Transfers  2,011  (2,011)  — 
Disposals and retirements  (34)  —  (34) 
Balance at March 31, 2024  214,132  14,824  228,956 

Accumulated amortization
Balance at April 1, 2023  186,845  —  186,845 
Amortization for the year  8,358  —  8,358 
Disposals and retirements  (34)  —  (34) 
Balance at March 31, 2024  195,169  —  195,169 

Carrying amounts at March 31, 2024 $ 18,963 $ 14,824 $ 33,787 
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14 Employee benefits

The Corporation, as the plan sponsor and plan administrator, contributes to and controls the following 
pension and post-retirement defined benefit plans:

i. Registered Pension Plan (Plan A)

Plan A is a registered final average salaried defined benefit pension plan in the Province of B.C. under 
the Pension Benefits Standards Act (British Columbia) (PBSA). Plan A covers substantially all of the 
Corporation’s employees. Plan A entitles an employee to receive an annual pension payment after 
retirement based on length of service and their final average salary, defined as the average of the 60 
consecutive months of highest pensionable earnings. The pension benefits are partially indexed for 
inflation after retirement. 

ii. Supplementary Pension Plan (Plan B)

Plan B covers employees designated by the Corporation. The pension benefits under Plan B provide 
designated employees a top-up to Plan A benefits to the extent, if any, that they are limited by the 
Income Tax Act (Canada) maximum pension rules. 

iii. Post-Retirement Benefit Plan – Non-Pension (Plan C)

Plan C covers qualifying employees for post-retirement medical, dental and life insurance benefits.

(a) Risk management
These plans expose the Corporation to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk, inflation 
risk, and other market price risk.

The Board of Directors provides governance oversight of the plans through the Audit Committee and 
People Committee. Additionally, a member of the Audit Committee serves as the Board Representative 
for the Pension Committee. The Pension Committee, consisting of designated management and 
employee representatives, is delegated specific responsibilities for the administration and oversight of 
the plans.

Plan A’s strategic asset mix outlined in section (d) of this note is integral to risk management. Investment 
policies are reviewed at least annually, and asset-liability studies are conducted every three to five years. 
In accordance with the relevant regulations, the Corporation follows the investment guidelines of the 
PBSA for defining permissible investment activities for money held in trust, including investment in assets 
subject to foreign currency risk. 

(b) Funding
Plan A is funded by investment returns, employer contributions, and employee contributions. The 
Corporation funds Plan A in accordance with the PBSA based on the advice of an actuary. The funding 
provides for the cost of the benefits accruing under the plan and for the proper amortization of any 
unfunded liability or applicable solvency deficiency after taking into account the assets of the plan, 
employee contributions and all other relevant factors. The actuarial assumptions used to determine 
funding requirements, which are based on a separate actuarial valuation for funding purposes, may 
differ from the assumptions outlined in section (e)(i) of this note.
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If at any time the actuary certifies that the net assets available for benefits under Plan A exceed the 
actuarially-determined present value of the accrued pension benefit obligation, such surplus, or any 
portion thereof, may be used by the Corporation at its discretion, to improve the benefits provided by 
Plan A or reduce contribution obligations, subject to PBSA restrictions and Income Tax Act (Canada) 
requirements. 

The Corporation expects to contribute $14,757 to Plan A in the year ending March 31, 2026.

Plans B and C are unfunded. As such, the Corporation pays all benefits thereunder as they become due.

(c) Movement in net defined benefit liability (asset)
A reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for the net defined benefit liability 
(asset) and its components is as follows:

Defined benefit 
obligation

Fair value of plan 
assets

Net defined benefit 
liability (asset)

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
Balance at April 1 $ 419,645 $ 358,601 $ (452,619) $ (396,056) $ (32,974) $ (37,455) 
Included in income
Current service cost  17,622  14,146  —  —  17,622  14,146 
Interest cost (income)  21,241  18,397  (22,276)  (19,829)  (1,035)  (1,432) 
Administration cost  —  —  351  343  351  343 

 38,863  32,543  (21,925)  (19,486)  16,938  13,057 
Included in other comprehensive 
income
Re-measurements loss (gain):

Actuarial loss (gain) arising from:
Demographic assumptions  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Financial assumptions  12,613  9,213  —  —  12,613  9,213 
Experience adjustments  6,000  30,933  —  —  6,000  30,933 

(Return) loss on plan assets excluding 
interest income  —  —  (40,829)  (33,067)  (40,829)  (33,067) 

 18,613  40,146  (40,829)  (33,067)  (22,216)  7,079 
Other
Contributions paid by the employer  —  —  (15,999)  (15,655)  (15,999)  (15,655) 
Contributions paid by the employee  4,292  4,080  (4,292)  (4,080)  —  — 
Benefits paid  (13,357)  (15,725)  13,357  15,725  —  — 

 (9,065)  (11,645)  (6,934)  (4,010)  (15,999)  (15,655) 
Balance at March 31 $ 468,056 $ 419,645 $ (522,307) $ (452,619) $ (54,251) $ (32,974) 

Represented by: 2025 2024
Net defined benefit asset (Plan A) $ (109,795) $ (82,746) 
Net defined benefit liability (Plans B and C)  55,544  49,772 

$ (54,251) $ (32,974) 
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(d) Plan assets
Plan assets are comprised of:

2025 2024
Global equities

Information technology $ 58,261 $ 46,450 
Financials  54,374  43,209 
Health care  28,874  28,830 
Consumer discretionary  28,233  21,984 
Industrials  22,162  29,162 
Communication services  16,414  15,560 
Consumer staples  15,806  13,265 
Other  29,556  26,969 

 253,680  225,429 
Private equities  96,607  77,103 
Infrastructure  53,304  45,662 
Long term bonds

Government  53,708  44,269 
Corporate  19,037  18,353 

 72,745  62,622 
Real return bonds

Government  45,183  41,159 
Cash and accruals  788  644 
Total Plan Assets $ 522,307 $ 452,619 

Global equities are held in pooled funds and are valued at the unit values supplied by the pooled fund 
administrator, which represent Plan A’s proportionate share of the underlying net investments at fair 
values determined using closing share prices in active public markets.

Private equities and infrastructure assets are held in funds with external investment managers and are 
valued based on provided valuation statements, which represent Plan A’s proportionate share of the 
estimated fair value of the underlying assets. For private equities, fair values of the underlying assets are 
determined using valuation models incorporating data from recent transactions and comparable public 
market investments, discounted cash flow analysis, and valuations of partner capital statements. For 
infrastructure assets, the fair value of the underlying investments is determined through a process 
undertaken with an independent third-party external valuator on a quarterly basis, with each investment 
undergoing a full independent valuation at least once per year.

The fair values of long-term bonds and real return bonds are determined based on price quotations; 
however, in the underlying market where these instruments are traded, the trade frequency for a 
substantial portion of these investments is not considered active.
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With consideration of the long-term nature of the plan liabilities, and the shorter-term liquidity needs for 
payments to retirees, the Corporation has a general target allocation of 60% return seeking assets and 
40% liability hedging assets. Overall, the portfolio of Plan A’s assets is managed within the parameters of 
the strategic asset mix comprising of 50% to 70% return seeking assets, 30% to 50% liability hedging 
assets, and up to 5% cash and cash equivalents.

Recent geopolitical uncertainty and the resulting economic volatility may impact other market price risk. 
Unexpected volatility or illiquidity could occur due to legal, political, regulatory, economic or other 
developments and may impair the investment manager’s ability to carry out the objectives of the funds or 
cause the funds to incur losses. Neither the duration nor ultimate effect of any such market conditions, 
nor the degree to which such conditions may worsen can be predicted. The investment managers adhere 
to the parameters of the strategic asset mix in relation to asset class and diversification, thus minimizing 
exposure to other market price risk.

(e) Defined benefit obligation
i. Actuarial valuation and assumptions

An actuarial valuation for funding purposes is required by the PBSA, at a minimum, every three years 
to assess the financial position of Plan A. An actuarial valuation of Plan A for funding purposes was 
performed as at December 31, 2022, by TELUS Health (Canada) Ltd., an independent firm of 
consulting actuaries. The defined benefit obligation for Plan A has been based on this valuation, with 
adjustments for accounting policies as described in note 3(c). These adjustments include revisions for 
cash flows and material events since December 31, 2022. In addition, assumptions have been 
reviewed and assessed at the reporting date. The discount rate has been updated to use a rate 
reflective of high quality bonds and market conditions as at March 31, 2025. The next required 
actuarial valuation for funding purposes is as of December 31, 2025 with a determination of the 
funded status of the pension plan available in mid-2026.

There is no statutory actuarial valuation requirement for Plan B. The defined benefit obligation for 
Plan B is based on census data for those members as at March 31, 2025.

There is no statutory actuarial valuation requirement for Plan C; however, a full actuarial valuation is 
completed every three years on Plan C. A full actuarial valuation of Plan C was performed by HUB 
International Ltd. as at November 1, 2024. The defined benefit obligation for Plan C has been based 
on this valuation, with adjustments made for cash flows and material events to March 31, 2025.  In 
addition, assumptions have been reviewed and assessed at the reporting date.
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The principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages) were as 
follows:

Plans A and B Plan C
2025 2024 2025 2024

Discount rate:
Defined benefit obligation  4.70 %  4.90 %  4.70 %  4.90 %
Benefit cost  4.90 %  5.00 %  4.90 %  5.00 %

Rate of compensation increase for the fiscal year  3.25 %  3.25 %  —  — 
Future compensation increases  3.25 %  3.25 %  —  — 
Inflation  2.00 %  2.00 %  —  — 
Initial weighted-average health care trend rate  —  —  4.85 %  4.87 %
Ultimate weighted-average health care trend rate  —  —  3.97 %  3.97 %
Year ultimate weighted-average health care trend rate reached  —  — 2040 2040
Assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65

Current pensioners
Male 22.9 22.9 22.9 22.9
Female 25.3 25.2 25.3 25.2

Retiring in 20 years
Male 23.9 23.9 23.9 23.9
Female 26.2 26.1 26.2 26.1

At March 31, 2025, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 14.2 years 
(2024: 14.2 years).

ii. Sensitivity analysis

Changes at March 31, 2025 to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding the other 
assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the following amounts:

Effect on the defined benefit obligation
2025 2024

Increase in 
rate

Decrease in 
rate

Increase in 
rate

Decrease in 
rateDiscount rate (1% movement) $ (60,142) $ 76,483 $ (53,589) $ 67,622 

Future compensation increase (1% movement)  18,230  (16,316)  14,493  (13,032) 
Inflation (1% movement)  23,644  (21,661)  22,996  (21,056) 
Health care cost trend rate (1% movement)  6,514  (5,269)  3,519  (3,508) 
Future mortality (10% movement)  (7,926)  9,458  (6,636)  7,221 

In practice, it is unlikely that one assumption would change while all other assumptions remained 
constant, since changes in some of the assumptions are interdependent; however, this analysis does 
provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.
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iii. Composition by plan membership

The defined benefit obligation relates to three member groups: active employees, former employees 
who have not yet started receiving a pension (deferred vested), and former employees and other 
beneficiaries currently receiving a pension (retirees). The breakdown of the defined benefit obligation 
at March 31, 2025 by member group, expressed as a percentage, is as follows:

Defined benefit obligation 2025 2024
Active members  54 %  54 %
Deferred vested members  5 %  5 %
Retirees  41 %  41 %

 100 %  100 %

15 Prizes payable
2025 2024

Lottery games $ 23,404 $ 28,453 
Progressive jackpots  9,274  9,477 
Other  —  87 

$ 32,678 $ 38,017 

16 Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities

2025 2024
Accrued expenses $ 59,581 $ 44,272 
Trade payables  28,952  15,073 
Player accounts liability (note 6)  27,662  24,642 
Gaming chips and vouchers liability  20,557  19,342 
Indirect tax payable  5,897  5,134 
Security deposits payable (note 6)  3,653  3,755 
Due to Interprovincial Lottery Corporation  1,883  4,224 

$ 148,185 $ 116,442 

Under agreements with its counterparties, the Corporation has an enforceable right to offset certain 
liabilities payable with accounts receivable and intends to settle the amounts on a net basis (note 7). As at 
March 31, 2025, gross accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities of $186,219 (2024: $155,090) were 
offset against accounts receivable in the amount of $38,034 (2024: $38,648), resulting in a net balance of 
$148,185 (2024: $116,442) presented in the statement of financial position.

The Corporation’s exposure to liquidity risk related to accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities is 
disclosed in note 5(c).
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17 Short-term financing

2025
Type Repayment Principal Interest Rate Maturity Outstanding

Government of 
British Columbia 
loans 
(unsecured)

Single installment $ 49,975 $ 125  2.60 % April 9, 2025¹ $ 50,068 
Single installment  30,033  67  2.45 % April 16, 2025¹  30,068 
Single installment  50,082  95  2.47 % April 25, 2025¹  50,093 

$ 130,090 $ 287 $ 130,229 
1 Repaid and refinanced within the normal course of operations subsequent to March 31, 2025

2024
Type Repayment Principal Interest Rate Maturity Outstanding

Government of 
British Columbia 
loans 
(unsecured)

Single installment $ 40,014 $ 186  4.85 % April 10, 2024 $ 40,147 
Single installment  39,980  190  4.81 % April 18, 2024  40,075 
Single installment  30,059  116  4.85 % April 25, 2024  30,075 

$ 110,053 $ 492 $ 110,297 

Reconciliation of the movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities:

2025 2024
Balance at April 1 $ 110,297 $ 140,274 
Changes from financing cash flows
Proceeds from borrowings  1,615,777  1,875,751 
Repayment of borrowings  (1,595,738)  (1,905,664) 
Total changes from financing cash flows  20,039  (29,913) 
Other changes
Interest expense net of capitalized borrowing costs $ 4,733 $ 5,484 
Interest paid  (5,492)  (8,474) 
Capitalized borrowing costs  652  2,926 
Total other changes  (107)  (64) 
Balance at March 31 $ 130,229 $ 110,297 

The Corporation’s exposure to liquidity risk related to short-term financing is disclosed in note 5(c).
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18 Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue includes revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to performance 
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at the reporting date. These performance 
obligations pertain to Administered Games as described in note 3(i). The amounts recorded below are 
expected to be recognized as revenue by the Corporation within 12 months. All deferred revenue at 
March 31, 2024 has been recognized as revenue during the year ended March 31, 2025.

2025 2024
Lottery games $ 3,327 $ 23,962 
Other  660  843 

$ 3,987 $ 24,805 

19 Unsettled wagers

Unsettled wagers include revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to outcomes on 
Wagered Games as well as customer loyalty programs, as described in note 3(i), that have not yet 
occurred at the reporting date. The amounts recorded below are expected to be recognized as revenue 
by the Corporation within 12 months.

2025 2024
Customer loyalty programs $ 3,197 $ 3,371 
Sports betting  1,209  1,432 
Lottery games  1,089  1,151 
Other  279  975 

$ 5,774 $ 6,929 

20 Due to the Government of British Columbia

Each fiscal year the Corporation’s net income, after deducting payments the Corporation has made to the 
Government of Canada on behalf of the Government of British Columbia (note 25), is paid into the 
consolidated revenue fund of the Government of British Columbia in the manner directed by the 
Lieutenant Governor in Council in accordance with the Gaming Control Act (B.C.) (“the Act”). These 
distributions are inclusive of the 7% of “actual net income” as defined in the Act, that is remitted by the 
Government of British Columbia to the BC First Nations Gaming Revenue Sharing Limited Partnership as 
outlined in section 14.3 of the Act. The Government of British Columbia has also established various 
agreements that further distribute the Corporation’s net income, including payments to host local 
governments of gaming facilities and the horse racing industry. The Corporation’s transfer of 
distributions to the Government of British Columbia occurs after each fiscal month-end. The Corporation 
does not retain any earnings.

2025 2024
Balance at April 1 $ 190,104 $ 177,234 
Distributions to the Government of British Columbia  1,394,827  1,535,988 
Distributions paid to the Government of British Columbia  (1,448,193)  (1,523,118) 
Balance at March 31 $ 136,738 $ 190,104 
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21 Provisions

The Corporation recognizes provisions for liabilities associated with the decommissioning or 
environmental remediation of property and equipment when obligations result from acquisition, 
construction, development and/or normal operation of assets. The Corporation expects that the cash 
outflows for provisions will occur near the dates the related assets are retired or remediated. 

2025 2024
Balance at April 1 $ 3,173 $ 3,488 
Additions and effect of discounting  38  35 
Uses  (285)  (350) 
Balance at March 31 $ 2,926 $ 3,173 

22 Accumulated deficit

Upon adoption of IFRS, subsequent adoption of new or amended IFRS standards, and retrospective 
application of changes to accounting policies, the Corporation was required to adjust amounts previously 
reported in its financial statements. These adjustments did not reduce or increase the amounts 
distributed to the Government of British Columbia and therefore have resulted in the Corporation 
recognizing an accumulated deficit.

Fiscal year 
adopted

Accumulated 
deficit

Adoption of IFRS 2012 $ (17,728) 
Adoption of amended IAS 19 Employee Benefits 2014  584 
Adoption of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 2019  (8,319) 

Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretation 
Committee (IFRIC) clarifying guidance on IAS 19 Employee Benefits 2022  7,613 

$ (17,850) 
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23 Revenue

The Corporation’s revenue is disaggregated by major product lines as follows:

2025 Wagered Games
Administered 

Games Total

Slot and table games $ 2,090,550 $ 32,388 $ 2,122,938 
Lottery games  215,146  374,303  589,449 
Sports betting  30,088  698  30,786 
Bingo games  —  19,046  19,046 
Gaming revenue $ 2,335,784 $ 426,435 $ 2,762,219 
Non-gaming revenue  —  —  41,108 
Total revenue $ 2,803,327 

2024 Wagered Games
Administered 

Games Total

Slot and table games $ 2,138,823 $ 31,364 $ 2,170,187 
Lottery games  217,481  393,734  611,215 
Sports betting  35,459  1,557  37,016 
Bingo games  —  17,922  17,922 
Gaming revenue $ 2,391,763 $ 444,577 $ 2,836,340 
Non-gaming revenue  34,956 
Total revenue $ 2,871,296 

For the year ended March 31, 2025, gains on the expiry of prizes payable of $10,508 (2024: $9,175) are 
included in revenue.

24 Net financing costs

2025 2024
Interest on short-term financing $ 5,385 $ 8,410 
Interest on lease liabilities  1,211  1,112 
Capitalized borrowing costs  (652)  (2,926) 
Interest income  (3,478)  (4,532) 

$ 2,466 $ 2,064 
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25 Payments to the Government of Canada on behalf of the 
Government of British Columbia

The Corporation makes payments to ILC, which are then paid to the Government of Canada as a result of 
an agreement between the provincial and federal governments following the withdrawal of the 
Government of Canada from the lottery field. The agreement requires the provinces, on a combined 
basis, to make on-going payments of $24 million in 1979 dollars annually on an inflation adjusted basis. 
The Corporation, as the B.C. regional marketing organization of ILC, remits the Government of British 
Columbia’s portion of the payments based on current population statistics.

26 Contingencies

From time to time, the Corporation is party to legal proceedings, regulatory matters and claims that arise 
in the ordinary course of business. The Corporation recognizes a provision for these contingencies when 
it is probable that there will be an outflow of economic benefits and the amount can be estimated 
reliably.

The Corporation periodically enters into agreements with suppliers that include limited indemnification 
obligations, which must be approved by B.C. Government Risk Management Branch. These 
indemnifications typically require the Corporation to compensate the other party for certain damages 
and costs incurred as a result of third-party claims. Due to the nature of these agreements, the 
Corporation cannot reasonably estimate the maximum amount it could be required to pay its suppliers; 
therefore, no amount has been recognized in the financial statements for these indemnifications. 
Historically, the Corporation has not made any significant indemnification payments under such 
agreements.
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27 Related party transactions

BCLC, as a wholly-owned crown corporation, is controlled by the Government of British Columbia. 
Included in these financial statements are transactions with various ministries, agencies, and crown 
corporations related to the Corporation by virtue of common control.

All transactions with the Government of British Columbia ministries, agencies, and crown corporations 
occurred in the normal course of operations. Transactions that are considered to be individually or 
collectively significant include real estate leases (note 11), loan agreements (note 17), and distributions to 
the Government of British Columbia (note 20). The Corporation pays Provincial Sales Tax on its taxable 
purchases and also collects and remits Provincial Sales Tax to the Government of British Columbia on its 
taxable sales (note 28).

Key management personnel have been defined as the members of the Board of Directors, the President 
& CEO, and the Corporation’s Officers. The compensation for key management personnel is shown below:

2025 2024
Short-term employee benefits1 $ 2,783 $ 2,406 
Post-retirement benefits2  260  240 

$ 3,043 $ 2,646 
1 Salaries and non-cash benefits
2 Contributions to the Registered Pension Plan and amounts for the Supplementary Pension Plan outlined in note 14

The Corporation is also related to the pension and post-retirement defined benefits plans. Transactions 
with these plans are disclosed in note 14.

28 Indirect tax expense

As a provincial gaming authority, BCLC is a prescribed registrant under the Games of Chance Goods and 
Services Tax (GST)/Harmonized Sales Tax (HST) Regulations of the Excise Tax Act (the Regulations). The 
Corporation makes GST remittances to the Government of Canada pursuant to the Regulations. The 
Corporation’s net tax for a reporting period is comprised of net tax attributable to both gaming and non-
gaming activities. Imputed tax on gaming expenses is calculated according to a formula set out in the 
Regulations, resulting in the direct payment of additional GST at the applicable statutory rate. The net tax 
attributable to non-gaming activities is calculated similarly to that for other GST registrants.

Provincial Sales Tax is calculated and remitted to the Province of B.C. pursuant to the Provincial Sales Tax 
Act.
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